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Information regarding 
Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Maha 
Energy AB will be held on Friday June 16, 2017, 3:00 p.m. 
at Setterwalls on Sturegatan 10 in Stockholm. The notice 
and the complete proposals of the Board of Directors etc. 
will be available at www.mahaenergy.ca. To be entitled to 
participate, shareholders must be included in the register 
of shareholders maintained by Euroclear Sweden AB, in 
their own names, as of Monday June 12, 2017 and must 
notify Maha Energy AB no later than Monday June 12, 
2017. According to the Swedish Companies Act, a share-
holder who wishes to attend by proxy, must present a proxy 
in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder.

Financial Information
The company plans to publish the following financials reports:
• Three month report 2017 (January — March 2017) on May 31, 2017
• Six month report 2017 (April — June 2017) on August 29, 2017
• Nine month report 2017 (July — September 2017) on November 29, 2017 
• Year-end report 2017 (September — December 2017) on February 28, 2018 
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The Company’s core expertise is in primary, secondary and 
enhanced oil and gas recovery technologies and as such 
its business strategy is to target and develop underper-
forming hydrocarbon assets. 
 Maha is an independent, international upstream oil and 
gas company whose business activities include exploration, 
development and production of crude oil and natural gas. 
While currently the primary focus is the enhanced recov-
ery of oil, other conventional and unconventional resource 
development opportunities are and will be considered as 
they arise. As the Company focuses on applying state-of-
the-art tailored solutions on assets with proven hydrocar-
bon systems to recover the hydrocarbons in place, the 
Company’s primary risk is not uncertainty of reservoir con-
tent but fluid extraction. The shares are listed on First North 
(MAHA) in Stockholm. FNCA is the Certified Adviser.
 The head office is located in Stockholm, Sweden. The 
Company maintains a technical office in Calgary, Alberta 
as well as operation offices in Newcastle, Wyoming and 
Aracaju, Sergipe, Brazil.

Maha Energy AB 
in short

2016 — In brief
 
Operational
• Maha’s crude oil production in 2016 was 16,839 barrels
• Maha listed on First North, Stockholm, Sweden on July 

29, 2016
• Proved and Probable (2P) reserves of 17.2 million bar-

rels (“mmboe”)
• Acquisition of Tartaruga onshore oil field in Brazil 

approved

Financial
• Gross revenue 2016 amounted to USD 227,381 (TSEK 

1,945)
• Net sales 2016 amounted to USD 207,216 (TSEK 1,772)
• Result for 2016 amounted to USD (1,874,702) (TSEK 

-16,036)
• Result per share 2016 amounted to USD (0.03) (SEK -0,26)
• Cash and cash equivalents as per 31 December 2016: 

USD 6,757,669 (TSEK 57,807)

Average 2016 SEK/USD Exchange Rate: 8.5543
SEK/USD Exchange Rate as at 30 December, 2016: 9.1073
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Dear Friends and Fellow Shareholders of Maha Energy AB,
This is the first Annual Report for Maha Energy AB and 

I am very pleased with the results we are reporting. 2016 
was an exciting and busy year for us. The highlight was the 
successful listing of the Company on the NASDAQ First 
North Stock Exchange in Stockholm, Sweden. By listing, 
the Company fulfilled a promise made to its shareholders; 
to provide share liquidity. Looking forward, being public 
will provide the Company a better platform from which to 
negotiate with partners and Host Country Governments 
and an avenue to raise further capital to grow if needed.

The oil price downturn in 2014 created a plethora of 
opportunities for us that fit our strategy: to add value to 
existing underperforming hydrocarbon assets. With the 
support of our strong shareholding base we have been 
well placed to take full advantage of this buyer’s market in 
exploration and production assets. After having evaluated 
transactions in many parts of the world, we decided to 
focus on onshore Brazil. The economic downturn in Brazil, 
the bottoming of the oil price cycle, and the well-publi-
cized political events have resulted in an opening up of the 
onshore oil and gas industry in Brazil. We have capitalized 
on several very accretive opportunities consistent with our 
corporate strategy of identifying underperforming hydro-
carbon assets where modern extraction technologies can 
increase production and therefore, create value. 

The Tartaruga oilfield is an excellent example of this 
strategy. The definitive purchase and sale agreements to 
acquire the field were signed at the beginning of 2016, 
which coincided with the lowest oil price in 15 years — the 
bottom of the market! As soon as we received Agencia 
Nacional Petroelo (ANP) clearance for the acquisition, we 
completed the long-anticipated workover of the second 
production well (SES 107D). The results of the workover 
were in line with our expectations; the total production 
from the field doubled. The innovative use of a modern 
hydraulic jet pump to lower the bottom-hole pressure, thus 
increasing oil production, was an excellent example of what 
we excel at.

While it may sound simple; there were serious technical 
challenges to overcome, the most challenging of which 
was excessive associated gas due to the reduced reser-
voir pressure. Not unlike opening a carbonated beverage, 
when the pressure at the well was reduced, gas came out 
of the solution as small bubbles. Pumping fluid mixed with 
gas greatly reduces pump efficiency; especially when gas is 
plentiful 3,000 m below the surface. By sizing and choosing 
the right pumping system and completing a proper clean-
out of the wellbore the problem was solved.

In addition to the existing oil production, the Tartaruga 
field offers significant upside development potential. The 
field contains 3 different oil bearing reservoirs, of which 
we are currently only producing from the middle zone. 
The other two are virtually unexplored. Current production 
is from two wells completed in 2 of the 27 distinct sand 
layers that exist within the middle reservoir. The upside in 
the Tartaruga field was evaluated by Chapman Petroleum 
Consultants in the 2016 reserve audit, where they estimate 
the 3P reserves of Tartaruga to be in excess of 10 mmboe 

net to Maha (compared to 2 mmboe as at the beginning 
of the year). We expect these numbers to grow further as 
more work is done on this very exciting asset.

At LAK Ranch, the ‘hot water’ flood continues. During the 
last quarter of the year, we saw a stabilization of produc-
tion from our limited injection area and re-pressurization of 
the reservoir. A Jet Vak™ procedure for 4 of the produc-
tion wells is underway as these wells continue to produce 
below their theoretical capability with completion and/or 
formation damage suspected. The Jet Vak™ procedure will 
achieve two objectives; (a) clean out of flour-like coagu-
lated oil sand that is blocking the small holes in the pro-
duction tubing, and (b) reduce the bottom hole pressure so 
as to create Inflow Performance Curves. This will allow our 
technical team to predict well productivity and evaluate the 
next steps.

Finally, we are excited about the previously announced 
agreement to purchase 100% of Gran Tierra Energy’s (GTE) 
Brazilian assets. We spent the better part of the 4th quarter 
negotiating the Agreement with GTE; it was finally signed 
in February 2017. Gran Tierra has been keen to exit Brazil 
in-order to focus on their opportunities in Colombia and 
Mexico operations. As Brazil accounted for less than 1/30th 
of GTE’s production (largely from Colombia), it made more 
sense for them to focus on Colombia. 

The close proximity of the GTE operations and the 
Tartaruga field to each other creates clear synergies that 
should result in added significant value.

These are exciting times at Maha!

Sincerely, 

Jonas Lindvall
Managing Director and CEO

Letter to Shareholders
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Maha Energy Operations
Country License name Maha WI (%) Status Area (acres) Partner

USA LAK Ranch 99% Producing 6,475 SEC

Canada Manitou 50% Producing 1,280 Petrocapita

Canada Marwayne 30% Shut in 120 Petrocapita

Brazil Tartaruga 75% Producing 13,201 Petrobras

Canada

LAK

Tartaruga
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LAK Ranch
Wyoming, United States

The Company’s main asset as at December 31, 2016 is the 
LAK Ranch oil field, located on the eastern edge of the 
multi-billion barrel Powder River Basin in Wyoming, USA. 
The Company held a 99% working interest in and operates 
the field. 

The LAK Ranch asset is considered to be in a pre-pro-
duction stage and is currently undergoing delineation and 
pre-development work. As such, operating costs net of rev-
enues since the commencement of operations have been 
capitalized as part of exploration and evaluation costs.

The LAK field was shut in from April 2016 until August 
2016, primarily due to low oil prices and the requirement 
for reservoir pressure maintenance. During the shut-in 
period, the Company installed produced water recycling 
capacity, which is critical for handling of produced water 
and re-injection of water for pressure maintenance. This 
project was completed mid-August and production from a 
limited number of wells was re-established by the end of 
August 2016.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company 
generated revenue of USD  177,261 on an average sales 
volume of 27 bopd compared with USD  299,742 of rev-
enue during the year ended December 31, 2015 from an 
average of 24 bopd. Lower production volumes were a pri-
marily the result of the field wide shut in.

The crude oil produced from the LAK area is 19° API. The 
LAK Ranch oil field produced a total of 5,725 barrels, net to 
Maha, in 2016. The average price received was USD 34.34.

Technical work completed during 2015 and 2016 has 
laid the groundwork for the full field development plan. 
The full field development plan contemplates hot water 
injection (rather than steam) playing a more significant 
role than originally anticipated. The extra cost of hot water 
injector wells are far offset by the elimination of steam 
requirements. 
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Canadian Assets
Manitou and Marwayne

As at December 31, 2016, the Company also owned a 50% 
working interest in the Manitou property and a 30% work-
ing interest in the Marwayne property both of which were 
acquired from Palliser Oil and Gas Corp. in July 2014. These 
assets (the “Canadian Assets”) are located in Alberta and 
Saskatchewan, Canada.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, the 
Company generated revenue of USD 227,381 on an aver-
age sales volume of 30 bopd compared with USD 634,934 
of revenue during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2015 from an average of 55 bopd. Lower revenues were a 
result of lower field activity due to a change in operatorship 
and lower oil prices.

The crude oil produced from the Manitou and Marwayne 
areas is 12° API. The Canadian Assets produced a total of 
11,114 barrels net to Maha in the twelve months of 2016. 
The average price received was USD 24.98.

Operating costs associated with the Canadian Assets 
were USD 185,484 for the year ended December 31, 2016 
compared with USD 383,777 for the year ended December 

31, 2015. Lower operating costs in 2016 were due to lower 
field activity.

In May 2016, the operator of the Canadian Assets, which 
had been in receivership since February 2015, was pur-
chased by a Canadian Company.

In February 2017, Maha entered into an agreement to 
sell its interest in the Canadian Assets to the new owner, 
Petrocapita Oil and Gas L.P..  Because of the potential credit 
risk of the total purchase price which include a combina-
tion of a convertible debenture (due on December 1, 2023) 
issued by the Parent Company; Petrocapita Income Trust, 
and a cash payment of CAD 750,000, the Purchase Price 
has only been assumed to consist of the cash component.

As a result of the successful purchase of the operator 
by Petrocapita, and the subsequent agreement to pur-
chase Maha’s interest, the Company’s estimate of the value 
of the Canadian Assets increased to the value of the cash 
consideration of USD 562,022 (CAD 750,000) by reversing 
previously recorded impairment charges.
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Tartaruga
Sergipe, Brazil

During 2016, the Company entered into purchase and 
sale agreements with two companies to acquire a 75% 
operated interest in an onshore production block located 
in the Sergipe Alagoas Basin in Brazil. The acquisition 
was subject to regulatory approvals by the Brazilian 
Government and the Brazilian National Oil Agency (ANP). 
These approvals were obtained on November 29, 2016 
and the purchase of the interest was legally and benefi-
cially completed in January 2017.

Gran Tierra acquisition
In February 2017, Maha entered into an agreement to 
acquire the Brazil business unit of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. 
for cash consideration of USD  35 million. Upon closing, 
Maha will own and operate, through a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, the 100% working interests in six concession agree-
ments located in the Reconcavo Basin of Brazil. Closing of 
the Acquisition is subject to receiving the approval of the 
ANP, completion of a financing by Maha, and other closing 
conditions standard for similar transactions.



MAHA ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 20169

Reserves and Resources
Maha Energy’s net working interest reserves and resources oil base as at December 31, 2016, amount to 17.19 million bar-
rels of oil (“mmboe”) of 2P-reserves (proven and probable).

Audited Reserves
Oil (million bbls)

Field Proven Probable Possible Total
LAK Ranch 0.04 13.21 5.42 18.67
Tartaruga 0.75 3.18 6.27 10.21
Total 0.79 16.39 11.69 28.88

P 0.79 LAK Ranch as at 1 December 2016 and Tartaruga as at 31 December, 2016

PP 17.19
PPP 28.88

• Developed non-producing reserves are those reserves 
that either have not been on production, or have previ-
ously been on production, but are shut-in, and the date 
of resumption of production is unknown.

• Undeveloped reserves are those reserves expected to 
be recovered from known accumulations where a signifi-
cant expenditure (for example, when compared to the 
cost of drilling a well) is required to render them capable 
of production. They must fully meet the requirements of 
the reserves category (proved, probable, possible) to 
which they are assigned.

In multi-well pools it may be appropriate to allocate total 
pool reserves between the developed and undeveloped 
categories or to subdivide the developed reserves for 
the pool between developed producing and developed 
non-producing. This allocation should be based on the esti-
mator’s assessment as to the reserves that will be recovered 
from specific wells, facilities and completion intervals in the 
pool and their respective development and production 
status.

Reserves Categories
Reserves are estimated remaining quantities of oil and nat-
ural gas and related substances anticipated to be recover-
able from known accumulations, as of a given date, based 
on;
• analysis of drilling, geological, geophysical and engin-

eering data;
• the use of established technology; and
• specified economic conditions, which are generally 

accepted as being reasonable, and shall be disclosed.
 
Reserves are classified according to the degree of certainty 
associated with the estimates.
• Proved reserves are those reserves that can be esti-

mated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable. 
It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered 
will exceed the estimated proved reserves.

The reserves are determined by Chapman Petroleum 
Consultants (“Chapman”), an independent Engineering 
Company based in Calgary, Canada, conforming to the 
standards set out in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation 
Handbook (COGEH) prepared jointly by the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers (Calgary) and the Canadian Institute 
of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum. The Reserves and 
economic evaluations are consistent with the requirements 
of Form NI 51-101 F1 Part 2.

Reserve and Resource Classifications
Reserves and resources are classified according to Canadian 
NI-51-101 standards and therefore the classifications defined 
below may not be in accordance with other jurisdictions.

Maha’s crude oil reserves estimates presented are based 
on the Canadian reserves definitions and guidelines pre-
pared by the Standing Committee on Reserves Definitions 
of the CIM (Petroleum Society) as presented in the COGE 
Handbook. A summary of those definitions and guidelines 
is presented below.

Development and Production Status
Each of the reserves categories (proved, probable and pos-
sible) may be divided into developed and undeveloped 
categories:
• Developed reserves are those reserves that are expected 

to be recovered from existing wells and installed facili-
ties or, if facilities have not been installed, that would 
involve a low expenditure (for example, when compared 
to the cost of drilling a well) to put the reserves on pro-
duction. The developed category may be subdivided 
into producing and non-producing.

• Developed producing reserves are those reserves that 
are expected to be recovered from completion inter-
vals open at the time of the estimate. These reserves 
may be currently producing or, if shut-in, they must 
have previously been on production, and the date of 
resumption of production must be known with reason-
able certainty.
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• Probable reserves are those additional reserves that 
are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves. 
It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities 
recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the 
estimated proved plus probable reserves.

• Possible reserves are those additional reserves that are 
less certain to be recovered than probable reserves. It is 
unlikely that the actual remaining quantities recovered 
will exceed the sum of the estimated proved plus prob-
able plus possible reserves.

 
Other criteria that must also be met for the classification of 
reserves are provided in the COGE Handbook.

Levels of Certainty for Reported Reserves
The qualitative certainty levels referred to in the definitions 
above are applicable to individual reserves entities (which 
refers to the lowest level at which reserves calculations are 

performed) and to reported reserves (which refers to the 
highest-level sum of individual entity estimates for which 
reserves estimates are presented). Reported reserves 
should target the following levels of certainty under a 
specific set of economic conditions:
• at least a 90 percent probability that the quantities 

actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimated 
proved reserves;

• at least a 50 percent probability that the quantities 
actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of the 
estimated proved plus probable reserves; and

• at least a 10 percent probability that the quantities 
actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of the 
estimated proved plus probable plus possible reserves.

Additional clarification of certainty levels associated with 
reserves estimates and the effect of aggregation is pro-
vided in the COGE Handbook.
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Summary of Assets

work completed in 2014, further production optimization 
work continued in 2015 culminating in a revised develop-
ment plan based upon historical field production results. 
Because of the viscous nature of the 19° API oil, the addi-
tion of heat in the form of superheated water is modelled to 
generate a 21 percent recovery factor. The recovery factor 
is estimated using the CMG STARS reservoir simulation 
software which predicts fluid movements through the Petrel 
static geo-model. The Recovery Factor is defined as the 
percentage of producible oil compared to the oil originally 
in place. Factors influencing the Recovery Factor include 
reservoir and fluid characteristics (porosity, permeability, 
pressure, viscosity, temperature and saturations). The LAK 
Ranch heavy oil field is currently producing stable 33 bopd 
from 6 wells, driven by a pilot hot water flood that is shap-
ing up to be a reliable enhanced oil recovery (EOR) method 
for further development.

Ownership History
In February 2013, Maha (Canada) acquired a 60 percent 
working interest in the LAK Ranch from Derek Resources 
in exchange for the drilling and completion of a 5 well pro-
gram and USD 500,000. 

In April 2014, Maha (Canada) completed the acquisition 
of Derek’s remaining interest in the LAK Ranch. The aggre-
gate acquisition cost was USD  869,632 in cash and for-
giveness of joint venture debt along with 3,750,000 Maha 
(Canada) common shares.

LAK — Wyoming USA
Property Description
The LAK Ranch heavy oil field is situated on the eastern 
edge of the prolific Powder River Basin in Wyoming, USA. 
The Company is the 99 percent owner and operator of the 
LAK Ranch heavy oil field. The remaining 1 percent inter-
est in the LAK Ranch field is entitled to 1 percent of rev-
enues after paying production taxes without obligation to 
pay capital or operating costs and is therefore accounted 
for as a royalty holder. The LAK Ranch property has 6,475 
gross acres and produces 19° API oil from six deviated 
wells located in the northern section of the license area. 
Maha (Canada) acquired the asset in 2013 and has since 
embarked on a very detailed production optimization 
and appraisal program of the field. Independent reservoir 
engineering firm RPS has generated a static geological 
model, using Petrel software, that has calculated the best 
estimated Original Oil In Place (“OOIP”1) to be 62 million 
barrels at the end of 2014. The Petrel static geological 
model, that uses accepted industry parameters, was based 
on fifteen existing representative wellbores to estimate the 
oil initially in place. Parameters used in defining the OOIP 
rely on direct measurements from petro-physical informa-
tion as well as core data which in turn provide evidence as 
to the rock’s porosity, oil saturation, and permeability. The 
static geo-model is based on the latest acquired 3D seismic 
to define the areal extent of the reservoir. As a result of the 

1 Original Oil In Place is an estimate of the total volume of oil originally in the reservoir measured in barrels. The estimated OOIP is calculated by 
making assumptions about the rock porosity, quantity of reservoir rock, water saturation among many other variables.
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Fiscal Terms
Production is subject to a 14.06 percent royalty tax to the 
State of Wyoming and 12.97 percent Freehold royalties 
until 2019 at which time the royalty rate on certain areas 
within the field will increase to a maximum of 17.4 percent. 
Commencing in 2017, the minimum Freehold royalties are 
USD 120,000 per annum. There are no State taxes payable 
in Wyoming. Maha (US) is subject to sliding scale Federal 
tax averaging approximately 35 percent on taxable income 
in excess of USD  100,000. The LAK Ranch lease has an 
indefinite term as long as the minimum annual royalty is 
paid. 

LAK Ranch Development Plan
In 2014 Maha (Canada) engaged RPS to complete a reser-
voir characterization and reserve study which concluded the 
best case OOIP volume at the LAK Ranch to be 62.0 million 
barrels of oil. RPS was later tasked with completing a STARS 
reservoir dynamic simulation model which included history 
matching recent production data. This work was finished at 
the beginning of August, 2015. During the course of this 
work, several important discoveries were made: 
• First, it was determined that the viscosity reduction 

allows for reservoir pressure to play a more significant 
role. 

• Second, heat, although very important for the predicted 
high recovery rates, was determined to be less influen-
tial than maintaining reservoir pressure. 

• Third, it was noted that very little steam actually pene-
trated the reservoir as it condenses very close to the 
injection wellbore. 

The simulation model was refined to history match recent 
production and in turn to optimize future production. A 
200 acre area was identified in a part of the field with a 
considerable production history, and future development 
wells were modelled along with current and future steam 
injectors within this area. A final ratio of 2 producers per 
1 injector was modelled which predicted that an ultimate 
recovery factor of 20.75 percent is achievable with this 
configuration.

The LAK Ranch development plan consists of 11 phases 
of development. During 2014, Maha commenced the drill-
ing of Phase 3 by drilling 3 horizontal production wells in 
proximity to 3 vertical water injection wells. Completion of 
phase 3 is expected in 2017 subject to commodity prices 
recovering and entails drilling an additional 3 horizontal 
producer wells and 4 additional water injection wells. The 
remaining 8 phases of development will each consist of 6 
horizontal producers and 12 vertical injectors. It is expected 
that phases 3 and 4 can be produced through existing infra-
structure with additional facility capacity and expansion 
required in order to accommodate the development of 
phases 5 through 10. Full scale development of the proved 
and probable reserves associated with the LAK Ranch will 
require additional capital of USD 102 million.
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Tartaruga — Brazil

The Company acquired a 75 percent working interest in 
the Tartaruga Block located in the Sergipe Alagoas Basin 
of Brazil through a series of corporate take-overs during 
December 2016 and January 2017.

Property Description
The Tartaruga oil field is situated within the Sergipe sedi-
mentary basin, eastern Brazil. The Company is the 75 per-
cent owner of the Tartaruga oil field with the remaining 
25 percent interest held by the state oil company Petrobras. 
The Tartaruga oil field is located in the northern half of the 
13,201 acre (53.4 km²) Tartaruga Block and produces 41 API 
oil from two deviated wells drilled into the early Cretaceous 
Penedo Formation. The Tartaruga oilfield has produced in 
excess of 1 million barrels of oil to December 31, 2016. 

The light oil Tartaruga oil field is currently producing 
from the Penedo sandstone reservoir. Net reservoir pay 
has been estimated by an independent Geology and 
Geophysics consulting group to be in excess of 80 m. The 
Penedo sandstone consists of 27 separate stacked sand-
stone reservoirs, all of which has been electrically logged 
and are believed to contain oil. To date only 2 of these 27 
stacked reservoirs have been produced, (Penedo 1 and 
Penedo 6). The best estimate of the OOIP of the Penedo 
sandstone is 65.4 million barrels, but because of the com-
plex geology of the Tartaruga structure, a high estimate 
at 200 million barrels of oil in place has been mapped in 
the Penedo sandstone alone. A previous Operator of the 
Tartaruga Field mapped the Penedo sandstone to contain 
87 million barrels of oil initially in place.

A deeper, regionally producing sandstone, known as the 
Serraria, has also been mapped but the reservoir content 
is uncertain at this time. Should the Serraria contain oil, the 
OOIP estimates range between 6 million and 236 million 
barrels of oil in place, depending on structural closure and 
spill-point. 

An adjacent structure to Tartaruga has produced oil 
from the “Morro de Chaves” formation, which lies above 
the Penedo formation. The “Morro de Chaves” has not been 
tested in the Tartaruga field and provides for further explor-
ation potential on the field.

Monthly production (bbls) from the Tartaruga Field

Fiscal Terms 
The Tartaruga Block is subject to a 9.7 percent royalty pay-
able to the Government of Brazil plus 1 percent payable 
to the landowners in the vicinity of the Tartaruga Block. An 
overriding royalty of 10 percent is payable to Petrobras. 

The statutory tax rate applicable to corporate income is 
34 percent. This is comprised of a basic 15 percent corpor-
ate income tax, plus 10 percent surtax and 9 percent social 
contribution on net profit tax. Corporate income tax is pay-
able on the total upstream profits of a company. 

Tartaruga Block Development Plan 
Maha’s immediate plan for the Tartaruga Block is to 
increase production by resolving existing completion defi-
ciencies and optimising pump performance. In particular, 
Maha immediately re-entered the SES-107 well, which was 
intermittently free flowing, cleaned it out and recompleted 
it using a jet pump. The current jet pump surface system 
now operates both wells. The re-entry and workover of the 
SES-107D well was completed in February 2017 and effect-
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ively doubled the production of the field as shown in the 
production graph above.

Further reviews are under way to optimize the field pro-
duction by (a) redesigning the current jet pump on the 
7-TTG well and (b) de-bottleneck the surface facilities. 

Maha believes that the application of horizontal drill-
ing and modern day completion practices could have 
significant application in this field with the opportunity to 
materially increase production and reserves. To that end, 
the Company has embarked on plans to re-enter and side-
track one of the existing wells or drill a new well with a view 
to complete a horizontal well in the Penedo formation. 
Re-entries and side-tracking is a very cost effective way to 
use old wellbores, minimize impact on the environment 
and to increase production using horizontal drilling tech-
nology. Additional wells are planned to be drilled to fully 
exploit the Tartaruga structure in due course (see Press 
Release dated April 18, 2017).

Additional Exploration Potential
Penedo Sandstone
There are a total of 27 separate stacked sandstone reser-
voirs in the Penedo formation. To date only four have been 
tested of which two are now in production, Penedo 1 (P1) 
and Penedo 6 (P6). The reservoirs vary in thickness with 
the thickest being the Penedo-1 (15 m thick). Total net pay 
measured in the 6-TTG well of all productive sands is 80 m. 
There is believed to be significant additional opportunities 
for the development of oil and gas in the Penedo sand-
stone formation.

Serraria Sandstone
The Serraria sandstone is a regional oil producer, and 
potential target for future oil exploration. The 6-TTG well 
penetrated the Serraria sandstone on the Tartaruga Block. 
The sand was not tested, as it was deemed water wet. 
However, because the well targeted the Penedo sands, it is 
believed that the Serraria was not penetrated in a structur-
ally optimal position, in fact seismic analysis suggests that 
the Serraria was penetrated outside the structural closure at 

this location. A future vertical well in a structurally optimal 
position would provide a better opportunity for the proper 
testing of the Serraria target.

108-D Structure
A seismically defined, undrilled structure is believed to 
exist on the block which could contain additional oil and 
gas resources. A ‘prospect’ level interpretation of the seis-
mic suggests closure at 3 levels; Morro de Chaves (430 acre 
closure testing 34 bopd of 28 API oil from 1-SES-108 well), 
Penedo (617 acre closure testing 1 bbl/d from 1-SES-108 
well from edge of structure) and the Serraria (312 acre clos-
ure which hasn’t been tested). This structure is not easily 
accessible from land, and hence would probably require an 
offshore jack up drilling rig to be evaluated.
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Manitou and Marwayne — Canada

In June 2014, the Company purchased a non-operated 
50% working interest in certain heavy oil producing prop-
erties from Palliser Oil and Gas Corporation (“Palliser”) in 
the Manitou area in Western Saskatchewan (the “Manitou” 
property) and a 30% working interest in the Marwayne area 
of eastern Alberta (the “Marwayne” property”) by way of 
funding the re-activation of four (4) wells which occurred in 
the fourth quarter of 2014. 

The Manitou and Marwayne properties are collectively 
(the “Canadian Assets”). 

During the first quarter of 2015, Palliser filed for Creditor 
Protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement 
Act of Canada (“CCAA”). In May 2016, Palliser was pur-
chased out of receivership by Petrocapita Oil and Gas L.P.

Marwayne Property
The Marwayne property consists of 120 gross acres. 
Production from the Marwayne property comes from 4 wells 
which produce from a clastic unit of the Lower Cretaceous 
Upper Mannville Group. It formed within a prograding del-
taic environment. In this area, the producing sand is found 
between 470 and 500 meters and the productive interval is 
3 to 6 meters thick. Production was shut-in during the first 
quarter of 2015 as a result of high operating costs and low 
commodity prices.

Royalty rates in Alberta, Canada are a function of two 
separate components, product prices and producing 
rates, which are additive. The royalties are determined by 
means of complex formulae containing a series of thresh-
olds for both prices and rates. Increasing royalty rates are 
applied incrementally to each threshold. Conventional oil 
royalty rates can be zero for low rate wells when price is 
low, increasing to 40% for high rate wells when prices are 
high. The maximum royalty rate will not apply to any well 
producing less than 35 boe/day regardless of price. Also, 
maximum royalty rates will not apply to any well, regardless 
of rate, at oil prices less than USD 50/boe.

Manitou Property
The Manitou property has gross 1,280 acres with seven 
existing wells. The wells produce from the Sparky sand 
which is a classic unit of Lower Cretaceous Upper Mannville 
Group. It formed within a prograding deltaic environment. 
In this area, the Sparky Sand is found between 580 and 610 
meters and the productive interval is 1 to 2 meters thick.

Royalty rates in Saskatchewan from oil and gas produced 
from Crown lands in Saskatchewan is subject to Crown roy-
alties, which vary with production rate, product price, oil 
density and the date the wells were drilled. Exploratory 
wells, deep vertical development wells, and all horizontal 
wells drilled on or after October 1, 2002 are subject to a 
royalty of 2.5 percent until certain volumes of oil (between 
4,000 to 16,000 m3) have been recovered.

The fourth tier royalties for wells drilled since October 
1, 2002 were designed to encourage oil and gas activity 
in Saskatchewan. The maximum Saskatchewan Crown 
Royalties can approach 45 percent for high rate oil and gas 
wells. In all other categories royalties will not exceed 35 
percent.

Sale of Canadian Assets
In February 2017, Maha entered into an agreement to 
sell its interest in the Canadian Assets to the new owner, 
Petrocapita Oil and Gas L.P., for CAD 1,650,000. The con-
sideration is payable in two parts: (a) cash payments total-
ling CAD 750,000 to be paid over 9 months commen-
cing March 15, 2017 and (b) the balance by Convertible 
Debenture granted by Petrocapita Income Trust, the parent 
of Petrocapita, maturing December 1, 2023. Given the 
illiquidity of the Convertible Debenture and its extended 
maturity date the Company estimated their value at zero 
and the Sales Price to be CAD 750,000.
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Industry Overview
Generally speaking, the Company is engaged in the explor-
ation, development and production of oil and natural gas. 
Specifically, Maha Energy specializes in extracting incre-
mental oil and gas from existing and previously discovered 
and produced oil and gas finds. Focus is placed on modern 
enhanced oil and gas recovery (EOR) technologies through 
the implementation of custom tailored recovery solutions. 
The core expertise of the Management is in the field of 
Petroleum Engineering.

The Oil and Gas Business is made up into three seg-
ments; upstream, mid-stream and downstream. The down-
stream segment focuses on product manufacturing and 
distribution, for example, refineries and gasoline retail. The 
midstream segment deals with the storage and transpor-

tation of unrefined crude oil and natural gas. Maha Energy 
AB acts in the upstream sector, which consists of the pros-
pecting, exploration, development and production of 
crude oil and natural gas.

The upstream sector can be broken down into three fur-
ther segments; Exploration, Appraisal and Development & 
Production. The Exploration phase is by far the most risky, 
but is a necessary part for the business to grow organic-
ally — or through the ‘drill bit’. Appraisal and Development 
refers to the harvesting of the discovered oil and gas.

Maha Energy AB’s strategy is to maintain a healthy bal-
ance of all three sub segments in the upstream oil and gas 
sector, as shown in the Company’s 40:40:20 asset strategy 
pyramid.

A Company that spans all three segments of the oil and 
gas business is said to be an integrated oil company. A good 
example of an integrated oil and gas company are the likes 
of Shell Oil and Exxon. They own and operate assets in all 
three categories from the wellhead to the gasoline pump.

The Upstream Development Cycle is based on using 
funds generated from Production Operations to explore for 
more oil and gas. It is the Company’s philosophy to limit 

exploration to approximately 20% of its asset portfolio 
and use only internally generated funds to fund explora-
tion efforts. It is also the Company’s philosophy to limit 
exploration to ‘near field exploration’. That is exploration of 
undrilled or untested formations that are adjacent or very 
near existing producing areas. That way the risk of potential 
structures and formations not containing hydrocarbons is 
reduced.

40:40:20

20%
NF exploration

40%
Appraisal

40%
Production base

Risk Reward

Appraisal

Development

Development

Near field 
exploration

Appraisal

Exploration
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An introduction to Oil
Crude oil is a mineral, consisting of a mixture of hydrocar-
bons of natural origin and associated impurities, such as 
sulphur. It exists in the liquid phase under normal surface 
temperatures and pressure and its physical characteristics 
(density, viscosity, etc.) are highly variable.2

Oil exploration is expensive. Once oil has been discov-
ered via an exploratory well, full-scale production requires 
many wells across the reservoir that facilitate the flow of 
oil to the surface. These wells also help to define the total 
recoverable oil in a reservoir, i.e. reserves. “Reserves” is 
an estimate of the amount of oil in a reservoir that can be 
extracted at an assumed cost.3

Oil can be classified as conventional and unconven-
tional. Conventional oil is produced by a well drilled into 
a geologic formation in which the reservoir and fluid char-
acteristics permit the oil to readily flow to the wellbore. 
Unconventional oil production is a term for oil and natural 
gas that is produced by means that do not meet the criteria 
for conventional production. What has qualified as “uncon-
ventional” at any particular time is a complex interactive 
function of resource characteristics, the available explor-
ation and production technologies, the current economic 
environment, and the scale, frequency, and duration of 
production from the resource. Perceptions of these factors 
inevitably change over time and they often differ among 
users of the term.4

Competition
The petroleum industry is intensely competitive in all 
aspects including the acquisition of oil and gas interests, 
the marketing of oil and natural gas, and acquiring or gain-
ing access to necessary drilling and other equipment and 
supplies. Maha competes with numerous other companies 
in the search for and acquisition of such prospects and in 

attracting skilled personnel. Maha’s competitors include 
oil companies which have greater financial resources, staff 
and facilities than those of the Company. Maha’s ability to 
increase reserves in the future will depend on its ability to 
develop its present properties, to select and acquire suit-
able producing properties or prospects on which to con-
duct future exploration and to respond in a cost-effective 
manner to economic and competitive factors that affect 
the distribution and marketing of oil and natural gas. Oil 
and natural gas producers are also facing increased com-
petition from alternative forms of energy, fuel and related 
products that could have an impact on the demand for oil 
and gas and could lead to reduction in oil prices which may 
have a negative impact on the Company’s cash flow and 
profitability.

The Global Energy Market
Global energy consumption is driven by world population, 
economic growth and availability of resources. Overall 
consumption has grown consistently and seen a steady 
increase throughout modern economic history. Going for-
ward, energy consumption is expected to increase for all 
forms of energy, primarily as a result of increased consump-
tion in emerging economies as well as a growing global 
population and expanding economy. 

Overview of the Oil Market
The Company’s long term view of the oil and gas market is 
very positive, with the expectation that over time tightening 
supply and growing demand, especially from developing 
countries, will contribute to a strong and robust market. 
The following sections describes the Company’s market in 
terms of development, size, supply & demand, and pros-
pects for future growth.

2	 https://www.iea.org/statistics/resources/balancedefinitions/	—	February	16,	2016
3	 “Peaking	of	World	Oil	Production:	impacts	Mitigation	&	Risk	Management”,	Robert	L.	Hirsch,	February	2005
4	 https://www.eia.gov/tools/glossary/index.cfm?id=U	—	February	16,	2016
5	 From	the	Energy	Information	Agency	(www.eia.com)
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Oil Consumption
Fossil fuel is the world’s primary source of energy. Coal, oil 
and natural gas account for more than 85% of the world’s 
energy source, and in 2016 global oil consumption was 
approximately 96.7 million barrels per day.6 Oil consump-
tion has grown consistently over the past decades, and from 
1980 to 2016, consumption increased by 62% on a global 
basis. Global growth on an annual basis has increased by 
1.37% since 1980. According to the US Energy Information 
Administration (EIA) global oil consumption is expected to 
continue to increase going forward, growing by about 1% 
per year on average for the next two years. Oil is used for 
a wide array of purposes including transportation, petro-
chemical processes for feedstock, power generation and 
agriculture. Currently, oil used for transportation in the 
form of, inter alia, gasoline, diesel and jet fuel is the main 
source of oil consumption globally, constituting 64.5% of 
global consumption in 2014.7 Transportation is expected to 
remain a key source of consumption growth going forward. 
Geographically, the largest consuming regions in 2014 
were the North America (23.3 million barrels per day) and 
Asia Pacific (30.8 million barrels per day).6 Consumption 
is today fairly evenly distributed between OECD and non-
OECD countries with approximately 50% of consumption 
from each of the groups.6 Going forward, consumption in 
OECD countries is expected to increase by 0.2 million bar-
rels per day in 2016 and 0.3 million barrels per day in 2017 
led by increased consumption in the United States, while 
global consumption is expected to increase in non-OECD 
countries by 1.0 million barrels per day in 2016 and 1.1 mil-
lion barrels per day in 2017 reflecting higher growth in the 
Middle east and Eurasia.8

Oil Production and Reserves
Oil is found in large quantities on most continents of the 
world. Oil production is active in all major populated con-
tinents and in 2014 the global production totalled an esti-
mated 96.7 million barrels per day.6 The largest producers 
are Saudi Arabia (11.5 million barrels per day), Russia (10.8 
million barrels per day) and the United States (11.6 million 
barrels per day). From 2004 to 2014, production grew at an 
annual compounded rate of 1.0% per year, and production 
grew in all major regions of the world however with vary-
ing growth between nations. In the period, the United State 
was the largest growing producer increasing its oil produc-
tion from 7.2 million barrels per day in 2004 to 11.6 million 
barrels per day in 2014.6 Other countries with large pro-
duction growth were Saudi Arabia, Iraq, Iran, Russia, each 
growing daily production by more than 1 million barrels 
per day in the period.

Simultaneously, production declined significantly in 
the North Sea in the period, with the United Kingdom and 

6 IEA Oil Information 2016 https://www.iea.org
7 IEA Key World Statistics 2016 https://www.iea.org 
8	 Short-term	Energy	Outlook	—	February	9,	2016	 http://www.eia.gov/forecasts/steo/
9	 National	Oil	Companies	and	Value	Creation	—	Silvana	Tordo,	2011

Norway seeing production declining by 1.2 and 1.3 million 
barrels per day, respectively.9

In terms of reserves, nearly half of the total proved 
reserves in the world today are located in the Middle East, 
primarily Saudi Arabia, Iran, Iraq, Kuwait and the United 
Arab Emirates. In total, 84 per cent of remaining proven 
reserves are held by the OPEC members. 

Other large reserve pools are located in unconventional 
resources in Canada (oil sands) and Venezuela (extra heavy 
oil), which will require significant investments and technol-
ogy improvements in order to commercially develop. 

Of the remaining oil reserves in the world, a large pro-
portion is owned by state owned entities. In 2014, nearly 
90 per cent of the world’s oil reserves, including both con-
ventional and unconventional oil, are controlled by national 
oil companies (“NOCs”) or their host governments.9 Those 
NOC held reserves have by far the lowest average develop-
ment and production costs. Remaining reserves are shared 
between major oil companies and independents. Many 
NOCs tend to focus on supplying their national markets, 
or are subject to political supervision thus impacting rate 
of production and flow of sales. On the other hand pri-
vately owned companies (including major oil compan-
ies, independents and certain NOCs) are geared towards 
shareholders’ interests and market signals. Due to the stra-
tegic importance of oil as a key source of energy supply 
in the modern economy, as well as a large portion of the 
world’s remaining reserves being controlled by politically 
influenced national entities and located in countries that 
are members of OPEC, future production and supply of oil 
may be influenced by factors outside the course of normal 
market functions. This could in the future, as has been dem-
onstrated in the past, have material impact on the trade of 
oil between countries, as well as the price of oil.

The Oil Price
Oil is a commodity with a well-developed world market. 
The prices are determined on the world’s leading com-
modities exchange particularly NYMEX in New York and 
the ICE in London which quote main oil price benchmarks: 
WTI at NYMEX (the USA benchmark) and Brent at ICE (the 
world benchmark). 

Oil prices have historically experienced significant fluc-
tuations. From early 2011 through August 2014, the Brent 
oil price largely traded within a USD  90 to USD  125 per 
barrel range and posted all time high annual average levels 
of around USD 110 per barrel. 

Since September 2014, crude oil price has trended 
steeply downwards to about USD  30 per barrel as at 
February 12, 2016. The recent price decline has been a 
result of an oversupplied market driven by weaker than 
expected global oil demand growth in 2015, strong growth 
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in US oil production and recovering production from OPEC 
countries including introduction of oil exports from Iran. 
At the same time, the near term supply demand outlook 
(first half of 2016) has been weak and OPEC has shown 
no willingness to curtail production in order to support 
the oil price. As evidenced by the recent decline, the oil 
price is highly dependent on the current and expected 
future supply and demand of oil, and is as such influenced 
by global macroeconomic conditions and may experi-

ence material fluctuations on the basis of economic indi-
cators, material economic events and geopolitical events. 
Historically, oil prices have also been heavily influenced 
by organizational and national policies, most significantly 
the implementation of OPEC and subsequent production 
policies announced by the organization. The below figure 
shows the historical development in the price of crude oil 
from 1986 to 2016.
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Corporate Responsibility
Health, Safety and the Environment
At Maha, Health, Safety and the Environment is #1. Maha 
Energy strives to provide a safe and healthy work environ-
ment for all employees, contractors and suppliers. This 
means the safety of life, limb, environment and property 
always comes first. The Company actively monitors all 
operational sites and proactively encourages everyone to 
be mindful of all our HSE Values. This is achieved through 

education, enforcement and reporting. All sites provide 
transparent monthly HSE reports.

Everyone working or visiting our sites have the right to 
stop work at any time to prevent potential HSE incidents 
occurring. Our HSE culture must be open and honest and 
must never be affected by monetary gains. Our HSE Values 
set the tone for how we approach each other and the 
environment.

Corporate Governance and Sustainability
Part of contributing to society and being a good global cit-
izen must entail doing ‘what is right’, in addition to adhering 
to laws and regulations. One of the ways we ensure sustain-
ability is to maximize recovery from existing energy sources 
and in order to do so effectively it is important to minimize 
scope changes. If we can prevent costly and impactful 
changes in development plans, we contribute to sustain-
ability. Another way to contribute to a sustainable planet, 
is to ensure all resources are used. We therefore recycle 
produced water at our LAK Ranch facility which not only 
reduces having to find water from another source, but also 
illuminates and reduces waste water treatment require-
ments. In Brazil, we are reducing the release of natural gas 
by using the waste gas from oil production to generate 
electricity.

Maha does not tolerate any form of corrupt practices 
and have in place Corporate Governance Policies that 
clearly define how we must do business. The best way to 
prevent corruption is through transparency — transparency 
is one of our core values.

Excellence & Enjoyment

We put the 
health and 

safety of our 
people first

We want to contribute to our community

We lead  
by example

Respect
We will treat everyone 

with respect and  
always be respectful  

to one another

ResponsibilityWhen we mess up we will always assume 
responsibility

Honesty
We will always be  

honest and truthful

Integrity
Our word is our bond

We want to be 
the best 

neighbor

We deeply care about the environment

We do not  
judge

Our Values Caring & Responsible 
People

“We are here to create value for our company, our community and our customers through the extraction of 

hydrocarbons, if we cannot do that safely and without harm to the environment, we will not do it at all.

Our cornerstone is that high HSE standards are achievable without sacrificing profits and work enjoyment.”Jonas Lindvall, CEO, April 2015
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Board of Directors and Management
Board of Directors
The Company has its registered office in Stockholm, 
Sweden. Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, 
the board of directors shall consist of not less than three 
(3) and not more than seven (7) ordinary members, without 
any deputy members. Currently, the Company’s board of 

directors consists of four (4) ordinary members, appointed 
until the end of the next annual shareholders’ meeting. The 
composition of the board of directors in the Company is 
the same as the board in Maha (Canada) before the incor-
poration of the parent company in 2016.

Jonas Lindvall
A seasoned senior executive with 26 years of international 
experience in the upstream oil and gas industry across 
Europe, North America, Africa and Asia. Jonas started his 
career with Lundin Oil during the early days of E&P growth. 
After a 6 years at Shell and Talisman, Jonas joined, and 
helped in securing the success, of Tethys Oil AB. Jonas 
holds a B.Sc. in Petroleum Engineering and a M.E.B. from 
the University of Tulsa. 

Ron Panchuk
An experienced international oil and gas executive with 
law, commercial and business development skills having 
over 30 years’ experience in over 40 countries. Ron was a 
former partner/counsel in prominent regional and inter-
national law firms including Burstall Winger and Blake 
Cassels & Graydon. He worked in the Middle East region 
extensively for over 20 years including 8 years as General 
Counsel with the Government of Dubai and 5 years as VP of 
a small E&P company. Ron obtained his LLB from University 
of Manitoba 1982.

Wayne Thomson
Mr. Thomson is a director of Cenovus Energy; Chairman 
and President of Enviro Valve Inc., a director of TVI Pacific 
Inc. and Inventys Inc. Mr. Thomson an engineer, has over 
35 years experience in the oil and gas industry in Canada, 
North Sea, New Zealand, Eastern Europe and the Middle 
East.

Anders Ehrenblad
Anders held senior executive positions in the Venture 
Capital and Semiconductor Industry. He Founded the ‘tech 
start up’ Alfa One Venture Capital Fund. Anders headed 
up sales and marketing for Fairchild Semiconductor 
North Europe. Currently he is a partner in Graviton Capital 
Advisors, involved in corporate and venture financing. 
Mr. Ehrenblad holds a M.Sc.(B.A.) Degree from Uppsala 
University Sweden and Monash University, Australia.

Ron Panchuk Jonas Lindvall Anders Ehrenblad Wayne Thomson
CCO	&	Vice	President Managing Director and CEO Independent Director Chairman and Independent Director
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Senior Management
Jonas Lindvall — Managing Director 
(see info under “Board of Directors”)

Ron Panchuk — Chief Corporate Officer and Corporate 
Secretary in Maha (Canada) (see info under “Board of 
Directors”

Mark Hopkins — Interim CFO
Mr. Hopkins holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
University of Saskatchewan, Canada and is a Chartered 
Accountant. He has over 25 years’ experience in the oil and 
gas industry in senior financial, operational and executive 
leadership roles and has worked with Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers in Calgary and Venezuela.

Tom Walker — Chief Operating Officer
Founder and Chief Production Engineer of Orchard 
Petroleum Engineering Solutions, Production Engineer 
and Production Engineering Team Leader at Noble Energy 
Inc., Surveillance and Technical Team Leader as well as 
Staff Production Engineer at Shell Exploration & Production 
Company Inc. and Operations Manager at Samson 
Resources Corporation. Mr. Walker holds a Bachelor of 
Science Petroleum Engineering from the Colorado School 

of Mines, and is a Licensed Professional Petroleum Engineer. 
He has over 25 years’ experience in the oil and gas industry 
in petroleum engineering and has worked for petroleum 
companies in Canada, US, Oman and Qatar.

Jamie McKeown — VP Exploration and Production
Mr McKeown gained his B.Sc in Geology from the Victoria 
University of Wellington, New Zealand in 1986 and has 
been working continuously in the oil and gas industry 
since. Primarily involved with the technical elements of 
exploration and development, Mr. McKeown spent many 
years with Lundin in Africa, the Middle East and Asia. Later 
assignments include work with Tethys Oil in Oman and 
Apache Energy in Australia.

Remuneration for Board Members and Senior 
Management
The table below presents a summary concerning remunera-
tion paid to the board of directors and senior management for 
the financial year 2016 (including any contingent or deferred 
compensation), as well as benefits in kind granted by Maha 
for services in all capacities performed to Maha, regardless of 
by whom and in which position the services have been per-
formed. All amounts are expressed in SEK. Salaries have been 
converted to SEK using a rate of SEK 1/USD 0.1169.

Name
Salary/Board 

Fee
Variable 

Remuneration
Option Based 

Award
Pension 

Expense
Other 

Remuneration Total
Jonas Lindvall 2,566,296 — — — 38,743 2,605,039
Ronald Panchuk 2,352,438 855,432 — — 38,743 3,246,613
Wayne Thomson 256,630 — 706,920 — — 963,550
Anders Ehrenblad 160,393 — — — — 160,393
Bradley Giblin 1,096,296 — 1,140,573 — — 2,236,869
Thomas Walker 209,581 — — — — 209,581
Total 6,641,634 855,432 1,847,493 — 77,486 9,422,045

Incentive Programs
As of the date of this Annual Report, Maha (Canada) had 
1,998,000 stock options outstanding under its stock-based 
incentive plan.

Maha (Canada) uses the fair value method of accounting 
for stock options granted to directors, officers, consultants 
and employees whereby the fair value of all stock options 
granted is recorded as a charge to operations. 

The stock option plan allows Maha (Canada) to grant 
stock options in Class A shares of Maha Energy AB, at exer-

cise prices equal to or close to market price, in amounts 
up to 10 percent of the number of common shares issued. 
All of the options have a four to five year term. All options 
granted in 2013 have been vested. The options granted 
in 2014 and 2015 vest as follows: one-third of the options 
vest one year after the grant date; one-third vest two years 
after the grant date; and one-third vest three years after the 
grant date.

Grant Date Expiration Date No. of Options Granted No. of Options Vested Exercise Price (USD)
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2018 1,548,000 1,548,000 0.45
January 1, 2014 December 31, 2018 400,000 400,000 0.75
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2018 350,000 350,000 1.25
July 15, 2015 July 15, 2020 300,000 100,000 1.25
January 1, 2016 December 31, 2020 50,000 16,667 1.25

Total 2,648,000 2,414,667
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The Maha Oil Share
On July 29, 2016, Maha Energy AB’s class A shares (trad-
ing symbol Maha A) and share purchase warrants (trading 
symbol Maha A TO 1) commenced trading on the NASDAQ 
First North Stockholm stock exchange. Concurrent with the 
listing on the First North stock exchange, the Company 
completed a financing (the “Offering”) at 19 SEK per unit 
whereby each unit consisted of 4 Class A shares and 1 share 
purchase warrant. The Company raised SEK 108.0 million 
SEK (USD  12.6 million as at final closing date, August 5, 
2016 USD/SEK exchange rate 8.56) in cash proceeds and 
issued 6,204,963 units (24,819,852 A-Shares and 6,204,963 
share purchase warrants) including 513,010 units that were 
issued to the Guarantor group as payment of 9% fees owed 
under the guarantee agreements.

Share Data
As at December 31, 2016 the Company had 68,662,994 
shares outstanding of which 56,522,199 were Class A shares 
and 12,140,795 were class B shares. In addition, there were 
an additional 2,648,000 convertible class C2 shares. In the 
event that the existing Maha (Canada) stock options and 
warrants are exercised these convertible class C2 shares 
will be redeemed and exchanged for Maha (Sweden) Class 
A shares. During the year ended December 31, 2016, all 
convertible C1 shares (1,844,527) were redeemed at no 
cost to the Company and cancelled. On November 2, 2016, 
Maha AB closed a directed share issue of 484,212 shares at 
a market price of SEK 10.25 per share. This was completed 
to cure a breach of a Guarantor’s “lock up” agreement.

Group Structure
Maha Energy AB is the parent company of a group which 
also includes the Company’s subsidiary Maha Energy Inc. 
(incorporation number 2017256518), a company incor-
porated pursuant to the laws of Alberta, Canada, and 
Maha (Canada)’s wholly-owned subsidiaries Maha Energy 
U.S. (incorporation number 2013-000637593), a company 
incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of Wyoming, 
United States of America, Maha Energy I (Brazil) AB (incor-
poration number 559058-0907), a Swedish private limited 
liability company and Maha Energy II (Brazil) AB (incorpor-
ation number 559058-0899), a Swedish private limited lia-
bility company. Maha Energy I (Brazil) AB and Maha Energy 
II (Brazil) AB owns all of the issued and outstanding shares 
of Petro Vista Energy Petroleo do Brasil Ltda. (incorporation 
number 08.091.093/0001-19) and UP Petróleo Brasil Ltda. 
(incorporation number 02.859.489/0001-87).

Upon completion of a corporate restructuring in May 
2016 (the “Roll Up”) whereby the shareholders of Maha 
(Canada) elected to either acquire A-Shares in Maha 
(Sweden) or Exchangeable Maha (Canada) Shares, Maha 
(Canada) became the subsidiary of Maha (Sweden). Most 
Canadian shareholders of Maha (Canada) elected to acquire 
Exchangeable Maha (Canada) shares for tax reasons.

Share Ownership
Name Number of Shares Outstanding Shares
Kvalitena AB 15,041,656 21.9%
Jonas Lindvall (Maha CEO and Managing Director) 4,711,610 6.9%
Ron Panchuk (Maha Vice President and CCO) 2,763,342 4.0%
Talal Al Subhi 2,394,738 3.5%
Avanza Pension (client accounts) 1,821,411 2.7%
Danica Pension 1,704,200 2.5%
Scott Price 1,596,492 2.3%
Danske Bank (client accounts) 1,485,712 2.2%
Nordnet Pensions (client accounts) 1,247,696 1.8%
CBNY-Fidelity Canada Custody 1,063,236 1.5%
Total, ten largest shareholders 33,830,093 49.3%
Remaining shareholders 34,832,901 50.7%
Total number of Maha A-Shares and B-Shares 68,662,994 100%
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Share Price Development since inception
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Administration Report
listing on the First North stock exchange, the Company 
completed a financing (the “Offering”) at 19 SEK per unit 
whereby each unit consisted of 4 Class A shares and 1 
share purchase warrant. The Company raised SEK 108.0 
million (USD 12.6 million as at final closing date, August 5, 
2016 USD/SEK exchange rate of 8.56) in cash proceeds and 
issued 6,204,963 units (24,819,852 A-Shares and 6,204,963 
share purchase warrants) including 513,010 units that were 
issued to the Guarantor group as payment of 9% fees owed 
under the guarantee agreements.

The Company is using the proceeds from the Offering 
along with the existing working capital to:
• fund the acquisitions in Brazil;
• fund drilling and workover operations in Brazil;
• start the initial phase 3 development at the Company’s 

LAK asset in Wyoming; and 
• fund general and administrative expenses.

Tartaruga (Brazil) Acquisition
The Company acquired a 75.0% working interest in the 
Tartaruga development block, located in the Sergipe 
Alagoas Basin of Brazil through the acquisition of Brazilian 
subsidiaries of two vendors. The agreements were entered 
into in 2016, but were not completed until January 2017.

Total consideration is as follows (subject to post-closing 
adjustments):
Purchase of UPP USD 3,254,825
Purchase of PVE USD 2,685,012
Total USD 5,939,837

Funds were paid by way of deposits of USD 586,000, for-
givable loans of USD 815,500 and funds paid into escrow in 
December 2016 of USD 4,188,337. There is an unpaid hold-
back of USD 350,000 pending the approval by the Brazilian 
Government and the Agencia Nacional do Petroleo, Gas 
Natural e Biocombustiveis of Brazil (“ANP”) of the purchase 
of a 7.5% working interest in the Tartaruga field that was 
to have been consolidated into UPP prior to closing. The 
approval is considered routine. The escrowed funds were 
released in January 2017. 

On closing in January 2017, the Company became the 
operator and holds a 75% working interest in the Tartaruga 
Block. The Company will treat the acquisition as being 
effective January 1, 2017 and will include its operations in 
its financial statements from that date.

Subsequent events
Gran Tierra Acquisition
In February 2017, Maha entered into an agreement to 
acquire the Brazil business unit of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. 
(“Gran Tierra”) (NYSE MKT:GTE) (TSX:GTE) through the pur-
chase of all of the shares and outstanding intercompany 
debt of Gran Tierra Finance (Luxembourg) S.Á.R.L., includ-
ing assumed liabilities involved with the going-concern 
operations, for a cash consideration of USD 35 million, sub-
ject to closing adjustments (the “Acquisition”). Upon closing, 
Maha will own and operate, through a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, the 100% working interests in six concession agree-

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Maha 
Energy AB (publ) (“The Company” or “Maha” with Company 
Registration Number 559018-9543, hereby report  the 
Company’s first Annual Report covering the period 1 July 
2015 until 31 December, 2016, and the associated consoli-
dated Financial Report for the year 1 January, 2016 until 31 
December, 2016.  This report is a review of Maha Energy 
AB (the “Company” or “Maha”) results and management’s 
analysis of its financial performance for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. The financial statements included 
in this Annual Report have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and adopted by the European Union (EU).  
Significant accounting policies used are set out in Note 3 
to the financial statements. All amounts are expressed in 
United States Dollars (USD), except in the Parent Company 
Annual Report where all amounts are expressed in Swedish 
Kronor (SEK), unless otherwise indicated.

Corporate Structure
The Maha group of companies (the “Group”) is organized 
as follows:

Note:	The	Company	structure	shows	the	structure	after	the	Balance	Sheet	
date	of	31	December,	2016.	The	acquisition	of	the	Brazilian	entities	was	
completed in January 2017.

Roll up
In 2015, the Group consisted of Maha Energy Inc. (“Maha 
(Canada)”), which was incorporated on January 23, 2013 
pursuant to the Alberta Business Corporations Act and its 
wholly-owned subsidiary Maha Energy (US) Inc.

In May 2016, the Group undertook a corporate restruc-
turing (the “Roll Up”) whereby the shareholders of Maha 
(Canada) acquired shares in Maha or Exchangeable Maha 
(Canada) Shares (as defined in Note 10 “Share capital”). 
Upon completion of the Roll up, Maha (Canada) became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Maha.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the activity 
of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 
2015.

Significant events
Listing on Nasdaq First North Stockholm and IPO
On July 29, 2016, Maha Energy AB’s class A shares (trad-
ing symbol Maha A) and share purchase warrants (trading 
symbol Maha A TO 1) commenced trading on the Nasdaq 
First North Stockholm stock exchange. Concurrent with the 

Maha Energy AB (Sweden)

Maha Energy Inc.
(Canada)

Maha Energy (US) Inc.
(United States)

Maha Energy II (Brasil) AB
(Sweden)

Maha Energy I (Brasil) AB
(Sweden)

Petro Vista Energy
Petroleo Do Brasil LtdaUP Petroleo Brasil Ltda

100%

99%
99%

1%
1%

100%
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ments located in the Reconcavo Basin of Brazil. Closing of 
the Acquisition is subject to receiving the approval of the 
ANP, completion of a financing by Maha, and other closing 
conditions standard for similar transactions.

In January 2017 Maha provided Gran Tierra a cash 
deposit (“Initial Deposit”) of USD 3.5 million which is non-re-
fundable in certain circumstances, including if the Company 
has not deposited into escrow the remaining cash consider-
ation of USD 31.5 million on or before June 1, 2017 or has 
not provided a further cash deposit (“Second Deposit”) of 
USD 1.5 million by such date. If the Second Deposit is paid, 
the Company is required to place into escrow the remain-
ing cash consideration of USD 30 million by August 1, 2017. 
The USD 35 million purchase price will be released upon all 
closing conditions being satisfied, including receiving the 
approval of the Acquisition from ANP.

Sale of Canadian Assets
At December 31, 2016, the Company owned a 50% work-
ing interest in the Manitou property and a 30% working 
interest in the Marwayne property which were acquired 
from Palliser Oil and Gas Corp. in July 2014. Both these 
assets (the “Canadian Assets”) are located in Canada.

In February 2017, Maha entered into an agreement to 
sell its interest in the Canadian Assets to the new owner, 
Petrocapita Oil and Gas L.P., for CAD 1,650,000. The con-
sideration is payable in two parts: (a) cash payments total-
ling CAD 750,000 to be paid over 9 months commen-
cing March 15, 2017 and (b) the balance by Convertible 
Debenture granted by Petrocapita Income Trust, the parent 
of Petrocapita, maturing December 1, 2023.

As a result of the successful purchase of the operator 
by Petrocapita and the subsequent agreement to purchase 
Maha’s interest, the Company’s estimate of the value of the 
Canadian Assets increased to the value of the cash con-
sideration of USD 562,022 (CAD 750,000) by reversing pre-
viously recorded impairment charges. Because the sales 
agreement was not completed until February 2017, the 
Company has not reclassified these assets as Held for Sale. 
Given the illiquidity of the Convertible Debenture and its 
extended maturity date the Company estimated their value 
at zero and the Sales Price to be CAD 750,000.

Financial Review Result
The Company recorded a loss for the year ended December 
31, 2016 of USD 1,874,702 or USD 0.03 per share com-
pared to a loss of USD 3,904,280 or USD 0.09 per share 
for the prior year. This was primarily due to a reversal of 
USD 562,022 of prior years’ impairment charges against 
impairment charges of USD 2,163,207 in 2015. The reversal 
in impairment provisions was somewhat offset by increased 
general & administration expense.

Revenue
During 2015 and 2016, all of the Company’s revenue 
came from the Canadian Assets. Revenue for the year of 
USD 277,381 compared with revenue of USD 634,934 during 
the year ended December 31, 2015. Lower production vol-
umes resulted from reduced field activity due to a change in 

operatorship. The average price received for the production 
was USD 24.98 compared to USD 28.62 in the prior year.

Production and operating expenses
Operating costs associated with the Canadian Assets were 
USD 185,484 for the year ended December 31, 2016 com-
pared with USD 383,778 in 2015. Lower operating costs in 
2016 were due to lower field activity.

General and administration
For the year ended December 31, 2016, general and 
administration (“G&A”) costs were USD 2,321,761 com-
pared to USD 1,360,700 for the same period of 2015.

(Expressed in USD) Year Ended 
December 31, 

2016

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2015
Salaries and benefits 995,355 712,635
Professional fees 453,443 298,776
Marketing and listing fees 419,839 —
Travel 119,612 104,043
Consulting fees 52,859 —
Other 280,653 245,246
Total 2,321,761 1,360,700

G&A costs are broken down as follows:
Salaries and benefits increased due to the addition of a full-
time CFO and performance bonuses paid to employees.

Professional fees consist primarily of legal and audit fees 
and accounting and taxation consulting. The increase in 
cost in 2016 primarily relates to costs of preparing the IPO.

Marketing and listing fees relate to the marketing of the 
IPO and listing on the Nasdaq First North Exchange. 

Consulting fees are for contract engineering services. 

Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation relates to the fair value of 
options granted to employees and others. The expense 
is charged to operations over the vesting periods of the 
options. The expense for the year ended December 31, 
2016 is lower that for the prior year as there are fewer 
options remaining to vest.

Impairment of PPE and E&E
The Company performs impairment tests when events and/
or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset 
or cash generating unit (“CGU”) may exceed the recover-
able amount. At December 31, 2015, impairment tests 
were performed for each CGU due to declining current and 
forecasted commodity prices for crude oil.

The impairment tests indicated that the carrying value of 
the Company’s Canadian Assets CGU’s exceeded the esti-
mated recoverable amounts. Consequently, for the year 
ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded impair-
ment expense of USD 2,007,000 on Property and Equipment 
and USD 156,207 on the exploration and evaluation assets.
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In May 2016, the operator of the Canadian Assets, which 
had been in receivership since February 2015, was pur-
chased by a Canadian Company.

The successfully completed purchase of the oper-
ator by Petrocapita is and indicator that the value of the 
Canadian Assets may be higher than its carrying amount. 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy that 
the recoverable amount of CGUs and individual assets be 
determined based on the higher of the value-in use calcu-
lations and fair values less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”), the 
Company estimated that the FVLCD at December 31, 2016 
was USD 562,022 (CAD 750,000) increased carrying value 
of the assets to that amount This resulted in an reversal of 
previously recorded impairment charges by that amount.

Share data
As at December 31, 2016 the Company had 68,662,994 
shares outstanding of which 56,522,199 were class A shares 
and 12,140,795 were class B shares. In addition, there were 
an additional 2,648,000 convertible class C2 shares. In the 
event that the existing Maha (Canada) stock options and 
warrants are exercised these convertible class C2 shares 
will be redeemed and exchanged for Maha (Sweden) Class 
A shares. During the year ended December 31, 2016, all 
convertible C1 shares (1,844,527) were redeemed at no 
cost to the Company and cancelled.

On November 2, 2016, Maha AB closed a directed share 
issue of 484,212 shares at a market price of SEK 10.25 per 
share. This was completed to cure a breach of a Guarantor’s 
“lock up” agreement.

The Company does not plan to distribute any dividends 
in 2017.

Liquidity and capital resources
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had current assets 
of USD 7,105,058 comprised primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents, and current liabilities of USD 368,597 resulting 
in net working capital of USD 6,736,460 (December 31, 
2015 — USD 4,399,566). 

The Company is in the oil exploration and development 
business and is exposed to a number of risks and uncertain-
ties inherent to the oil industry. This activity is capital inten-
sive at all stages and subject to fluctuations in oil prices, 
market sentiment, currencies, inflation and other risks. The 
Company currently has insufficient cash flow from produc-
tion, and relies primarily on equity to fund its development 
and administrative activities. 

Material increases or decreases in the Company’s liquid-
ity may be substantially determined by the success or fail-
ure of its development activities, as well as its continued 
ability to raise capital or debt.

In addition to its planned capital and operational spend-
ing plans for 2017, to complete the acquisition of Gran 
Tierra’s Brazilian assets, Maha will be required to pay cash 
consideration of USD 35 million and arrange financial guar-
antees (letters of credit or surety bonds) for certain work 
commitments totalling approximately USD 12 million.

In contemplation of completing the acquisition, in March 
2017 the Company completed a Directed Share Issue of 
12,919,326 Maha A-shares at a share price of SEK 7.10 
for gross proceeds of SEK 91,727,214.60 (approximately 
USD 10.5 million).

The Company will also arrange, through Stockholm 
Corporate Finance, a Rights Issue of 12,919,326 Maha 
A-shares at a share price of SEK 7.10 for gross proceeds of 
SEK 91,727,214.60. The Rights Issue has been fully guar-
anteed through a consortium consisting of Kvalitena AB 
(publ), Invium Partners AB, Pervasive Capital AB, Phantome 
de Genolier AB, City Capital Partners AB, Litcap AB and LMK 
Venture Partners AB. This pricing reflects an approximately 
19.9 percent discount from the five day, volume weighted 
average price of the Class A Shares for the period up to and 
including February 1, 2017. Debt financing with minimum 
gross proceeds of SEK 300 million is planned to take place 
on or before June 1, 2017.

Legal Matters
None outstanding. 

Seasonal Effects
Maha Energy has no significant seasonal variations.

Distribution of Earnings
The Board of Directors propose that no dividends 
be paid for the year. The board of Directors propose 
that the unrestricted equity of the Parent Company of 
SEK 286,592,354, including the net result for the year of 
SEK (1,634,394) be brought forward in accordance with the 
below table:
Retained Earnings SEK 288,226,748
Result SEK (1,634,394)
Total SEK 286,592,354
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
Note

Year Ended December 31
2016 2015

Oil sales 227,381 634,934
Less: royalties 20,165 99,881
Revenue from the sale of oil and gas 207,216 535,053

Expenses
Production and operating 185,484 383,778
General and administration 2,321,761 1,360,700
Stock-based compensation 12 142,958 171,866
Impairment of (reversal of impairment of) PPE & E&E 8 (562,022) 2,163,207
Depletion, depreciation and accretion 7, 10 78,977 395,226
Foreign currency loss/(gain) (85,240) (35,444)
Total expenses 2,081,918 4,439,333
Tax 11 — —
Result for the year (1,874,702) (3,904,280)
Currency translation losses 738,047 —
Comprehensive loss for the year (2,612,749) (3,904,280)

Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.03) (0.09)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 54,164,133 43,233,784

Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
Note

As at December 31, 
2016

As at December 31, 
2015

Assets
Current assets

Cash 13 6,757,669 4,592,780
Accounts receivable 114,781 103,622
Prepaid expenses and other 232,608 53,615

Total current assets 7,105,058 4,750,017

Non-current	assets
Deposits and loans on Brazil acquisition 5, 17 5,589,837 —
Exploration and evaluation assets 6 17,174,464 16,314,660
Property and equipment 7, 17 2,313,444 1,745,058
Performance bonds and other 9 150,861 161,595

Total non-current assets 25,228,606 18,221,313

Total assets 32,333,664 22,971,330

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 368,597 350,461

Non-current	liability
Decommissioning provision 10 828,835 834,685

Total liabilities 1,197,432 1,185,146

Shareholders’ equity 12 31,136,232 21,786,184
Total liabilities and equity 32,333,664 22,971,330
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
Share Capital 

(Note 11)

Contributed 
Surplus  

(Note 11)

Cumulative 
Translation 
Differences Deficit

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
Balance at January 1, 2015 26,745,144 1,737,555 — (3,000,785) 25,481,914
Warrants and stock options 
exercised for cash 41,118 (4,434) — — 36,684
Stock- based compensation — 171,866 — — 171,866
Loss for the year — — — (3,904,280) (3,904,280)

Balance at December 31, 2015 26,786,262 1,904,987 — (6,905,065) 21,786,184

Balance at January 1, 2016 26,786,262 1,904,987 — (6,905,065) 21,786,184
Roll up of Maha Energy Inc. (26,717,331) 26,717,331 — —
Issue of shares 52,779 13,667,759 — — 13,720,538
Share issue costs — (1,945,699) — — (1,945,699)
Reduction of capital (34,653) 34,653 — — —
Exercise of stock options — 45,000 — — 45,000
Stock-based compensation — 142,958 — — 142,958
Loss for the year — — — (1,874,702) (1,874,702)
Currency translation difference — — (738,047) — (738,047)
Balance at December 31, 2016 87,057 40,566,989 (738,047) (8,779,767) 31,136,232
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(Expressed in U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31
Note 2016 2015

Operating activities
Loss for the year (1,874,702) (3,904,280)
Add backs:

Stock based compensation 142,958 171,866
Impairment (562,022) 2,163,207
Depletion, depreciation and accretion 78,977 395,226
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss (609,673) (57,057)
Changes in non-cash working capital 16 (169,663) (68,627)

(2,994,125) (1,299,665)
Investing activities
Brazil deposits & loans 5 (5,589,837) —
Additions to developed and producing assets 7 (66,866) (199,145)
Additions to exploration and evaluation assets 6 (892,134) (2,551,084)
Redemption (purchase) of performance bonds 9 10,734 (264)
Changes in non-cash working capital 16 42,647 (1,645,321)

(6,495,456) (4,395,814)
Financing activities
Common stock and warrants issued for cash (net of share issue costs) 11,774,839 36,684
Exercise of stock options 45,000 —
Changes in non-cash working capital 16 (45,000) —

11,774,839 36,684

Foreign exchange gain in cash and cash equivalents (120,369)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash during the year 2,164,889 (5,658,795)
Cash and cash equivalent, beginning of year 4,592,780 10,251,575
Cash and cash equivalent, end of year 6,757,669 4,592,780
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Parent Company Income Statement

(Expressed in SEK)
Note

1 July — 
31 December 2016

Revenue —
General and administration expense (1,412,060)
Foreign exchange loss (222,334)

Income before Tax (1,634,394)
Tax 11 —
Loss for the year (1,634,394)

Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in SEK)
Note

Year ended 
December 31, 2016

Assets
Current assets

Cash 43,839,857
Prepaid Expenses 3,500

Total current assets 43,843,357

Non-current assets
Loans to subsidiaries 19 60,480,137
Investment in subsidiaries 18 183,639,886

Total assets 287,963,380

Liabilities and equity
Accounts payable and accrued 566,315
Shareholders’ equity 287,397,065

Total liabilities and equity 288,963,380



MAHA ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 201633

Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in SEK)
Share capital 

Contributed
surplus Deficit Total Equity

Balance at July 1, 2015 — — — —
Share issuance 50,000 — — 50,000
Transactions under common control 541,428 182,998,458 — 183,539,886
Share issuance 452,844 122,427,198 — 122,880,042
Share issue costs — (17,438,469) — (17,438,469)
Reduction in capital (239,561) 239,561 — —
Loss for the year — — (1,634,394) (1,634,394)
Balance at December 31, 2016 804,711 288,226,748 (1,634,394) 287,397,065

Parent Company Cash Flow Statement

(Expressed in SEK) July 1, 2015—
December 31, 2016

Cash flow from operations
Operating result (1,634,394)
Change in accounts receivable (3,500)
Change in accounts payable and accrued 566,315

(1,071,579)
Cash flow from investing
Investment in subsidiaries (100,000)
Loans to subsidiaries (60,480,137)

(60,580,137)
Cash flow from financing
Issue of shares 105,491,573

105,491,573

Increase in cash during the year 43,839,857
Cash, end of year 43,839,857
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. (Tabular 
amounts are in US Dollars, except in the Parent Company 
Financial Statements where the amounts are in Swedish 
Krona (SEK) ,unless otherwise stated).

1. Corporate information and basis of 
presentation

Maha Energy AB is engaged in the acquisition, exploration 
and development of oil and gas properties. The head office 
is located at Biblioteksgatan 1, 4th floor, 111 46 Stockholm, 
Sweden. The Company’s subsidiary, Maha Energy Inc., 
maintains its technical office at Suite 1140, 10201 Southport 
Road SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2W4X9. The Company 
has an operations office in Newcastle, Wyoming, USA.

Maha Energy AB (“the Company” or “Maha (Sweden)”) 
was incorporated on June 16, 2015 under the Swedish 
Companies Act and was registered by the Swedish 
Companies Registration Office on July 1, 2015. Maha Energy 
Inc. (“Maha (Canada)”), was incorporated on January 23, 
2013 pursuant to the Alberta Business Corporations Act. 
Maha (Canada) began its operations on February 1, 2013.

Roll up
In May 2016, Maha (Sweden) undertook a corporate 
restructuring (the “Roll Up”) whereby the shareholders of 
Maha (Canada) elected to either acquire class A Shares in 
Maha (Sweden) or Exchangeable Maha (Canada) Shares (as 
defined in Note 10 “Share capital”). Upon completion of the 
Roll up, Maha (Canada) became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Maha (Sweden).

As a result of the Roll Up, Maha (Sweden) became the 
legal parent company of Maha (Canada). The Roll Up trans-
action did not meet the definition of a business combin-
ation in accordance with IFRS 3; Business Combinations, 
consequently these financial statements are issued under 
the legal parent, Maha Energy AB, but are deemed to be 
a continuation of the legal subsidiary, Maha Energy Inc. 
The capital structure reflects the number of shares and the 
stated share capital of Maha Energy AB.

These consolidated financial statements (the “Financial 
Statements”) reflect the activity for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 and the comparative for Maha Energy 
Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Presentation and Functional Currency
The Financial Statements are stated in United States dollars 
unless otherwise stated and have been prepared in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU (“IFRS”) applicable to the presentation 
of financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance 
with IFRS requires management to make certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exer-
cise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the Financial Statements are disclosed in 
Note 4.

The Company prepared these Financial Statements on 
a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization 
of assets and liabilities in the normal course of business as 
they become due. These Financial Statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in 
the accounting policies below.

2. New and future accounting 
pronouncements

The following new standards and amendments have 
been issued but are not effective during the year ended 
December 31, 2016:
• IFRS 15; “Revenue from contracts with customers” deals 

with revenue recognition and establishes principles for 
reporting the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts 
with customers. The standard replaces IAS 11 and IAS 18 
and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted.

• IFRS 9; “Financial Instruments” addresses the classifica-
tion, measurement and recognition of financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The standard will replace IAS 39 
and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted.

• IFRS 16; “Leases” was issued in January 2016 and 
replaces IAS 17. The standard introduces a single lessee 
accounting model for leases with required recognition 
of assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard is 
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2019 with early adoption permitted if the Company is 
also applying IFRS 15.

The Company is assessing the impact of the new standards.

3. Summary of significant accounting 
policies

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accord-
ance with the IFRS adopted by the EU, and with the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board recommendation, RFR1, com-
plementary accounting rules for Groups, which specifies 
the supplementary information required in addition to 
IFRS standards, pursuant to the provisions of the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in the bank and on 
hand and all highly liquid instruments with original matur-
ities of three months or less at the time of issuance.

(b) Exploration and evaluation assets
Pre-license costs are recognized as an expense when 
incurred. Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs, includ-
ing the costs of acquiring licenses, exploratory drilling and 
completion costs, and directly attributable general and 
administrative costs are initially capitalized as either tan-
gible or intangible E&E assets according to the nature of 
the asset acquired. These costs are accumulated in cost 
centers by field or exploration area pending determination 
of technical feasibility and commercial viability. Ongoing 
carrying costs including the costs of non-producing lease 
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rentals are capitalized to E&E assets. Proceeds received 
from the sale of E&E assets are recorded as a reduction to 
the carrying value of the asset.

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting a resource is considered to be determinable 
when proved reserves are determined to exist and these 
reserves can be commercially produced. A review of each 
exploration license or area is carried out, at least annually, 
to assess whether proved reserves have been discovered. 
Upon determination of proved reserves which can be 
commercially produced, E&E assets attributable to those 
reserves are first tested for impairment and then reclassi-
fied from E&E assets to property and equipment.

(c) Property and equipment
Unless initially classified as E&E assets, all costs related to 
the acquisition, exploration and development of oil and 
natural gas properties are capitalized and are measured at 
historical cost less accumulated depletion and depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. These costs include 
proved property additions, development drilling and com-
pletions, costs for production facilities, decommissioning 
costs, and carrying costs. Repairs and maintenance costs 
are expensed as incurred. The Company does not capital-
ize indirect general and administrative overhead costs.

The difference between the proceeds from the dispos-
ition of oil and natural gas properties and the carrying 
value of accumulated costs of the properties sold will be 
recorded as gain or loss in the consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive loss in the period in which 
the disposition occurred.

Depreciation of tangible assets is calculated using the 
straight line method over the useful lives of the assets. 
Intangible assets are depleted on a unit of production basis 
at a rate calculated by reference to proven reserves.

(d) Impairment
Non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation 
assets, are subject to impairment tests whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

These factors are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the estimated recoverable 
amount is calculated. For the purpose of impairment test-
ing, assets are grouped together into cash-generating units 
(“CGU”). The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of dis-
posal (“FVLCOD”).

In assessing value in use, estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money. Value in use is generally computed by ref-
erence to the present value of future cash flows expected 
to be derived from production of proved and probable 
reserves.

E&E assets are allocated to the related CGU’s to assess 
for impairment, both at the time of any triggering facts and 

circumstances as well as upon their eventual reclassification 
to producing assets.

An impairment loss is recognized in earnings if the carry-
ing amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses previously recognized are assessed 
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
accumulated depletion and depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

(e) Decommissioning Provision
The Company’s activities give rise to dismantling, decom-
missioning and site disturbance remediation activities. 
Provisions are made for the estimated cost of site restora-
tion and capitalized in the relevant asset category.

The decommissioning provision is measured at the 
present value of management’s best estimate of expendi-
tures required to settle the present obligation at the state-
ment of financial position date. Subsequent to initial meas-
urement, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each 
period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the 
estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is rec-
ognized as a finance cost whereas increases/decreases due 
to changes in the estimated future cash flows are recorded 
against the related asset. Actual costs incurred upon settle-
ment of the decommissioning provision is charged against 
the provision to the extent the provision was established.

(f) Share-based compensation
The Company has granted options to purchase common 
stock to directors, officers, employees, consultants and cer-
tain service providers under Maha (Canada)’s stock option 
plan. Share-based payments are measured at the fair value 
of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting 
periods. The amount recognized as a stock-based payment 
expense during a reporting period is adjusted to reflect 
the number of awards expected to vest. The offset to this 
recorded cost is to contributed surplus.

The fair value of stock options is measured using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs 
include share price on measurement date, exercise price 
of the instrument, expected volatility, weighted average 
expected life of the instrument (based on historical experi-
ence and general option holder behaviour), expected 
dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on short-
term government bonds). A forfeiture rate is estimated on 
the grant date and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the 
actual number of options that vest.

(g) Earnings per share
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net 
loss applicable to common stock of the Company by the 
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weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
for the relevant period.

Diluted loss per common share is computed by dividing 
the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the 
sum of the weighted average number of common shares 
issued and outstanding and all additional common shares 
that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive 
instruments were converted using the treasury method.

(h) Income taxes
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred 
income taxes. Income tax expense is recognized in profit 
and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recog-
nized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The Company utilizes the liability method of account-
ing for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are recognized to reflect 
the expected deferred tax consequences arising from tem-
porary differences between the carrying value and the tax 
bases of the assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is real-
ized or the liability settled. Deferred income tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that 
the asset will be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabil-
ities on a net basis.

(i) Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Company’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which each entity 
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated finan-
cial statements are presented in United States Dollars 
(US) which is the currency the Company has elected to 
use as its presentation currency. The functional currency 
of the parent company, Maha Energy AB, is the Swedish 
Kronor (SEK). The SEK is also the presentation currency 
of the parent company statements for Maha Energy AB. 
Management has determined that the functional currencies 
of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:
Subsidiary Functional Currency
Maha Energy Inc. US
Maha Energy (USA) Inc. US
Maha Energy 1 (Brazil) AB SEK
Maha Energy 2 (Brazil) AB SEK

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange pre-
vailing at the balance sheet date and foreign exchange 
currency differences are recognized in the income state-
ment. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Exchange 
differences are included in financial income/expenses in 

the income statement. Goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
the balance sheet rate of exchange.

The results and financial position of all the Company’s 
consolidated operations that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are translated into 
the presentation currency as follows:
• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial pos-

ition presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that statement;

• income and expenses for each year are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates pre-
vailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of the trans-
actions); and

• resulting exchange differences are recognized in the 
foreign currency translation reserve within other com-
prehensive loss. These amounts would be recognized in 
profit or loss if the subsidiary is disposed of.

(j) Financial instruments 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and 
classified into one of four categories: held to maturity, 
available-for-sale, loans and receivables, or at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). All financial liabilities are 
initially recorded at fair value and classified as either FVTPL 
or other financial liabilities.

Maha’s financial instruments comprise of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, performance bonds and 
accounts payable. At initial recognition management has 
classified financial assets and liabilities as follows:

(i) Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as FVTPL. 
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on financial assets 
carried at FVTPL are recognized in net income in the per-
iods such gains and losses arise. Transaction costs related 
to these financial assets are included in net income when 
incurred.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses. Performance bonds and accounts 
receivable are classified as loans and receivables.

Impairment	of	financial	assets
At each reporting date the Company assesses whether 

there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or 
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
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of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets.

(ii) Financial liabilities
Other	financial	liabilities

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities 
are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction 
costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instru-
ment and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. This ensures that any interest 
expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate 
on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of 
financial position. The Company has classified its accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities.

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the Company prior to the end 
of the period which are unpaid. Trade payable amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

(k) Revenues
Revenues associated with the production and sale of crude 
oil owned by the Company are recognized when title to the 
product passes to the purchaser, the amount can be meas-
ured reliably, the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
product have been transferred to the purchaser, and the 
Company no longer retains control over the product sold.

Proceeds from sale of crude oil prior to the commence-
ment of commercial production are offset against capital-
ized costs for Company operations that are at the pre-pro-
duction stage (Note 6).

(l) Joint operations
The Company accounts for activities as joint arrangements 
when the agreement of the Company and one or more 
of the other venturer(s) is required to approve all signifi-
cant project decisions, thereby creating joint control of the 
operations. If the parties exercising joint control have the 
rights and obligations to the assets and obligations of the 
joint arrangement as a result of specific contractual agree-
ments or because of the unincorporated nature of the joint 
arrangement, the Company accounts for the joint arrange-
ment as a joint operation. The Company has no joint 
arrangements that are structured as an incorporated joint 
venture or where the Company and the other venturer(s), 
acting jointly, only have the right to its net assets.

(m) Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 
for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations. The consideration for each acqui-
sition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the 
date of exchange) of assets given up, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Corporation 
in exchange for control of the assets or acquiree. Goodwill 
is recognized when the consideration paid exceeds the 
aggregate fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired. 

Acquisition-related transaction costs are recognized in 
the statement of operations and comprehensive loss as 
incurred.

Producing property acquisitions are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is meas-
ured as the fair value of the consideration transferred at 
the date of completion of the acquisition. Acquisition costs 
incurred are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the fair value of the Company’s share of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of 
the acquisition is less than the Company’s share of the net 
assets required, the difference is recognized directly in the 
statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

4. Critical accounting estimates and 
judgments 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the 
future that affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated 
based on historical experience and other factors, includ-
ing expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual 
experience may differ from these estimates and assump-
tions. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is 
recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive 
income in the period of the change, if the change affects 
that period only, or in the period of the change and future 
periods, if the change affects both.

Information about critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant risk of 
causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated finan-
cial statements within the next financial year are discussed 
below:

(a) Impairment Indicators and Discount Rate
For purposes of impairment testing, developed and pro-
ducing assets are aggregated into CGUs, based on sep-
arately identifiable and largely independent cash inflows. 
The determination of the Company’s CGUs is subject to 
judgment.

The recoverable amount of CGUs and individual assets 
have been determined based on the higher of the value-in 
use calculations and fair values less costs of disposal 
(“FVLCD”). These calculations require the use of estimates 
and assumptions, including the discount rate. It is possible 
that the commodity price assumptions may change, which 
may impact the estimated life of the field and econom-
ical reserves recoverable and may require an adjustment 
to the carrying value of developed and producing assets. 
The Company monitors internal and external indicators of 
impairment relating to its assets and records adjustments, 
if necessary, at each reporting period date.
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(b) Reserve Estimates
Reserve estimates impact a number of key areas, in par-
ticular, the valuation of property, plant and equipment and 
the calculation of depletion and depreciation. Developed 
and producing assets are depleted on a unit of production 
basis at a rate calculated by reference to proved reserves 
determined in accordance with Canadian Securities 
Administrators National Instrument 51–101, Standards of 
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities and incorporating the 
estimated future cost of developing and extracting those 
reserves. Proved reserves are estimated using independent 
reservoir engineering reports and represent the estimated 
quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids 
which geological, geophysical and engineering data dem-
onstrate with a specified degree of certainty to be recover-
able in future years from known reservoirs and which are 
considered commercially producible. Reserve estimates, 
although not reported as part of the Company’s financial 
statements, can have a significant effect on net income 
(loss), assets and liabilities as a result of their impact on 
depletion and depreciation, decommissioning provisions, 
deferred taxes, asset impairments and business combin-
ations. Independent reservoir engineers perform evalua-
tions of the Company’s oil and natural gas reserves on an 
annual basis. The estimation of reserves is an inherently 
complex process requiring significant judgment. Estimates 
of economically recoverable oil and natural gas reserves 
are based upon a number of variables and assumptions 
such as geoscientific interpretation, production forecasts, 
commodity prices, costs and related future cash flows, all 
of which may vary considerably from actual results. These 
estimates are expected to be revised upward or downward 
over time, as additional information such as reservoir per-
formance becomes available or as economic conditions 
change.

(c) Decommissioning provisions
These provisions have been created based on the 
Company’s internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the 
current economic environment, have been made which 
management believes are a reasonable basis upon which 
to estimate the future liability. These estimates take into 
account any material changes to the assumptions that 
occur and are reviewed regularly by management.

Estimates are reviewed every reporting period and 
are based on current regulatory requirements. Significant 
changes in estimates of contamination, restoration stan-
dards and techniques will result in changes to provisions 
from period to period. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultim-
ately depend on future market prices for the rehabilitation 
costs which will reflect the market conditions at the time the 
rehabilitation costs are actually incurred. The final cost of 
the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be 
higher or lower than currently provided for.

(d) Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for 
expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets requires 
judgment in determining whether it is likely that future 

economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may 
be based on assumptions about future events or circum-
stances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if 
new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is 
capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that 
the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount cap-
italized is written off in profit or loss in the period the new 
information becomes available.

The timing of when a project achieves technical feas-
ibility and commercial viability involves judgement as it is 
determined based on a number of factors that can only be 
confirmed after a period of production history. In addition, 
new and evolving technologies may impact this assess-
ment. The Company continues to monitor its project cur-
rently under development.

(e) Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisi-
tion method of accounting. The determination of fair value 
often requires management to make assumptions and 
estimates about future events. The assumptions and esti-
mates with respect to determining the fair value of explor-
ation and evaluation assets and developed and producing 
assets acquired generally require the most judgment and 
include estimates of reserves acquired, forecast bench-
mark commodity prices and discount rates. Changes in any 
of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the 
fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the 
amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill pur-
chase price allocation. Future net earnings can be affected 
as a result of changes in future depletion and depreciation, 
asset impairment, decommissioning provisions or goodwill 
impairment.

(f) Income taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the pro-
vision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of busi-
ness for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s cur-
rent understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is 
probable that an adjustment will be made, the Company 
records its best estimate being the tax liability including the 
related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. 
Management believes they have adequately provided for 
the probable outcome of these matters. The Company has 
not recognized deferred tax assets relating to tax losses car-
ried forward. Timing of utilization of the tax losses depends 
on the ability of the Company to generate taxable profits. 
The estimation of this timing is based on a number of fac-
tors including judgements of future commodity pricing and 
profitability.

(g) Share-based payment transactions 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled trans-
actions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. 
Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
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requires determining the most appropriate valuation 
model, which is dependent on the terms of the grant. This 
estimate also requires determining the most appropri-
ate inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield. The 
assumptions used for estimating fair value for share-based 
payment transactions are disclosed in Note 12.

5. Deposits and Loans 
As at December 31, 2016 the Company has made refund-
able and non-refundable deposits, entered into secured 
loan agreements and placed funds into escrow as part of 
the acquisition of oil and gas assets in Brazil (see Note 17). 
The amounts are recorded as follows:
Forgivable loans 815,500
Refundable deposit 500,000
Non-refundable deposits 86,000
Funds in escrow 4,188,337
Total  5,589,837

All of the above will become part of the purchase price 
when the transactions are closed.

6. Exploration and evaluation assets 
(“E&E”)

As at December 31, 2016, the LAK Ranch Project had not 
established both technical feasibility and commercial 
viability and therefore remains classified as an E&E asset. 
Expenditures, net of revenues, for the LAK Ranch Project 
have been capitalized as E&E.

December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Balance, beginning of year 16,314,660 13,301,041
Expenditures in the year 1,015,380 2,814,157
Transfer from Property & 
Equipment — 618,743
Impairment — (156,208)
Incidental income from sale 
of crude oil (155,576) (263,073)
Balance, end of year 17,174,464 16,314,660

At December 31, 2015, the Company was not planning to 
proceed with any further development of the leases asso-
ciated with the exploration acreage in Canada. As a result, 
the Company recognized an impairment of USD 156,207. 
All of the E&E expenditures in 2016 and 2015 relate to the 
LAK Ranch project.
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8. Impairment
The Company performs impairment tests when events and/
or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a CGU 
may exceed the recoverable amount or if an impairment in 
a prior period should be reversed.

At December 31, 2015, impairment tests were per-
formed for each CGU due to declining current and fore-
casted commodity prices for crude oil.

The impairment tests, based on fair value less cost of 
disposal calculations, indicated that the carrying value of 
the Company’s Manitou and Marwayne CGU’s exceeded 
the estimate recoverable amounts. Consequently, for the 
year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded 
impairment totaling USD 2,007,000, based on the differ-
ence between the carrying value at December 31, 2015 
and the estimated recoverable amount of USD 261,532. 
The impairment charge was recognized as impairment in 
the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

During 2016, a Canadian income trust purchased, from 
a receiver, a majority interest in the properties for cash. The 
completed sale indicated that the value of the property was 
in excess of the carrying amount at that date.

The Company estimated that the selling price for the 
property was approximately CAD 750,000. Based on that 
estimate, the company reversed the prior year’s impair-
ment by USD 562,022. Subsequent to December 31, 2016, 
the Company sold its interest in the property to the new 
operator (see Note 17).

9. Performance bonds
The Company purchased performance bonds as required 
by the Wyoming Oil and Gas Conservation Commission 
and the operator of the property. The bonds bear interest 
at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.35%. If the operator or the 
other working interest partners fail to remediate the well 
site, the bonds will be used to fund this obligation. 

10. Decommissioning provision
The Company has calculated a decommissioning provi-
sion with respect to its LAK Ranch Project and developed 
and producing assets. The total estimated undiscounted 
amount of cash flow required to settle the decommis-
sioning provision is approximately USD 1.25 million, which 
will be incurred over the remaining life of the assets with 
the majority to be incurred between 2027 and 2038. The 
current year decommissioning provision recognizes the 
continuing obligation for the retirement of assets in which 
the estimate is based on the following assumptions:
Inflation 2.50%
Discount rate 1.50% — 2.50%

7. Property and equipment
Oil and gas 

properties
Equipment and 

Other Total
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2015 2,878,254 2,064,206 4,942,460
Transferred to Exploration and Evaluation — (618,743) (618,743)
Change in decommissioning estimate 7,909 — 7,909
Additions 48,369 150,777 199,146
Balance at December 31, 2015 2,934,532 1,596,240 4,530,772
Additions — 66,866 66,866
Balance, December 31, 2016 2,934,532 1,663,106 4,597,638
Accumulated depletion and depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2015 (341,000) (60,839) (401,839)
Depletion and depreciation (325,000) (51,875) (376,875)
Impairments (2,007,000) — (2,007,000)
Balance at December 31, 2015 (2,673,000) (112,714) (2,785,714)
 Depletion and depreciation — (60,502) (60,502)
 Reversal of prior period impairment 562,022 — 562,022
Balance at December 31, 2016 (2,110,978) (173,216) (2,284,194)

Carrying amount December 31, 2015 261,532 1,483,526 1,745,058 
Carrying amount December 31, 2016 823,554 1,489,890 2,313,444
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The following table presents the reconciliation of the open-
ing and closing decommissioning provision:
Balance at December 31, 2014 854,825 
Accretion expense 18,351 
Change in estimates 7,909
Foreign exchange (46,400)
Balance at December 31, 2015 834,685 
Accretion expense 18,475
Foreign exchange movement 8,005
Change in estimate (32,330)
Balance at December 31, 2016 828,835

11. Income Taxes
The following table reconciles income taxes calculated at 
statutory rates with the recorded income tax recovery. 

December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Net loss (1,874,702) (3,904,280)
Applicable tax rate 22% 26%
Expected tax recovery (412,434) (1,015,113)
Effect of different tax rates (94,698) (23,130)
Tax effect of non-
deductible stock based 
compensation 38,599 44,685
Unrecognized deferred 
tax assets 468,533 993,558
Income tax recovery — —

During 2016 Maha undertook a corporate restructuring 
resulting in the relocation of its head office from Calgary, 
Canada to Stockholm, Sweden. As a result, the applicable 
tax rate in 2016 has changed to reflect the statutory tax rate 
in Sweden. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent 
that it is more likely than not that the asset will be realized. 
The company has not recognized any deferred tax assets at 
December 31, 2016 or at December 31, 2015. 

The company has estimated tax loss carry forwards at 
December 31, 2016 of USD 2.7 million in Canada, USD 11.1 
million in the USA and USD 2.3 million in Sweden. These 
losses do not begin to expire until December 31, 2033.

12. Share Capital
Maha Energy AB Initial Public Offering
On July 29, 2016, Maha Energy AB’s class A shares (trad-
ing symbol “Maha A”) and share purchase warrants (trading 
symbol “Maha A TO 1”) commenced trading on the Nasdaq 
First North Stockholm stock exchange. Concurrent with the 
listing on the First North stock exchange, the Company 
completed a financing at 19 SEK per unit whereby each 
unit consisted of 4 Class A shares and 1 share purchase 
warrant. Under the financing, which closed August 5, 2016, 
the Company raised USD 12.6 million (SEK 108.1 million 
in cash proceeds and issued 6,204,963 units (24,819,852 

Class A shares and 6,204,963 share purchase warrants) 
including 513,010 units with a value of USD 1.1 million (SEK 
9.7 million) that were issued to the guarantor group as pay-
ment of fees owed under guarantee agreements.

Maha Energy AB Share Capital
Maha Energy AB was acquired as a shelf company without 
previous operations for the purpose of becoming the parent 
company of Maha Energy Inc. According to the articles of 
association of Maha Energy AB, the share capital may not 
be less than SEK 517,000 (US 60,500) and not more than 
SEK 2,068,000 (USD 242,000), divided into not fewer than 
47,000,000 shares and not more than 188,000,000 shares. 
Shares may be issued in four (4) different classes and shall 
be divided between Class A (A-Shares), class B (Convertible 
B-Shares), class C1 (Convertible C1-Shares) and class C2 
(Convertible C2-Shares). The A-Shares may be issued up 
to a number corresponding to 100% percent of the Maha 
Energy AB total share capital, the Convertible B-Shares may 
be issued to a number corresponding to 35% of the Maha 
Energy AB total share capital and the Convertible C-Shares 
may be issued to a number corresponding to 10% of the 
Maha Energy AB total share capital, of which Convertible 
C1-Shares may be issued to a number corresponding to 4% 
of the Maha Energy AB total share capital and Convertible 
C2-Shares may be issued to a number corresponding to 6% 
of the Maha Energy AB total share capital.

The rights associated with the shares issued by the 
Company, including those required by the articles of asso-
ciation may only be amended in accordance with the pro-
cedures set out in the Swedish Companies Act.

At shareholders’ meetings each shareholder is, according 
to the Swedish Companies Act, entitled to vote for the full 
number of A-Shares, Convertible B-Shares or Convertible 
C-Shares that the shareholder owns or represents with-
out restrictions to the entitlement to vote. Each A-Share 
and Convertible B-Share carries one vote per share. Each 
Convertible C1-Share carries one tenths (1/10) of a vote and 
each Convertible C2-Share carries two tenths (2/10) of a vote.

Roll Up
On May 15, 2016, a corporate restructuring occurred (the 
“Roll Up”) whereby the newly acquired Maha Energy AB 
became the parent company of Maha Energy Inc. by issuing 
29,478,036 A-Shares and 13,609,394 Convertible B-Shares 
of Maha Energy AB. As a result of the Roll Up, Maha Energy 
AB became the legal parent company of Maha Energy Inc. 
The Roll Up transaction was accounted for as a reverse take-
over and therefore the Financial Statements are a continu-
ation of Maha Energy Inc. but the capital structure reflects 
the number of shares and the stated share capital of Maha 
Energy AB.

The A-Shares were issued against payment in kind in 
the form of an equal amount of common shares in Maha 
Energy Inc. while the Convertible B-Shares were issued in 
the form of an exchange of common shares in Maha Energy 
Inc. against exchangeable shares in Maha Energy Inc. (the 
“Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. Shares”).
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Each Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. share is exchange-
able for a Maha Energy AB A-Share and, prior to such 
exchange, will have economic rights that are substantially 
equivalent to the Maha Energy AB A-Shares, including with 
respect to the payment of dividends equal to those paid 
to the holders of Maha Energy AB A-Shares and the rights 
on the liquidation or dissolution of Maha Energy Inc. The 
Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. shares will not have any 
right to the assets and liabilities of Maha Energy Inc.

The ability to acquire Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. 
shares assists Canadian residents to defer capital gains 
tax otherwise incurred on the Roll Up. 15 Maha Energy 
Inc. shareholders, representing 13,609,394 shares elected 
to convert to Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. Shares. For 

each Exchangeable Maha Energy Inc. Share issued, one 
Convertible B-Share of Maha Energy AB was issued. The 
Convertible B-Shares are not entitled to dividends of Maha 
Energy AB. Pursuant to relevant support agreements a 
mechanism is in place to allow holders of Exchangeable 
Maha Energy Inc. shares to vote a corresponding number 
of Convertible B-Shares of Maha Energy AB, to receive 
similar dividends issued to holders of Maha Energy AB 
A-Shares and to convert such Exchangeable Maha Energy 
Inc. share for a Maha Energy AB A-Share.

The combined number, ownership and rights associated 
with Maha Energy AB A-Shares and Convertible B-Shares 
is substantially equal to the number of Maha Energy Inc. 
common shares prior to the Roll Up.

Maha AB share purchase warrants outstanding
As part of the Offering, the Company issued common share 
purchase warrants, each convertible into one class A share 
of Maha Energy AB, upon payment of the exercise price. 
The warrants have an exercise price of SEK 6.40 and expire 
on January 15, 2018.

Maha AB Share 
Purchase Warrant  

#

Exercise 
price10

USD
Balance at December 31, 2015 — —
Granted 6,204,963 0.70
Balance at December 31, 2016 6,204,963 0.70

10		Maha	AB	share	purchase	warrants	have	an	exercise	price	of	SEK	6.40	
converted	at	the	December	SEK/USD	exchange	rate	of	9.11

Maha Energy Inc. Stock options and share purchase 
warrants
(a) Maha Energy Inc. stock option plan
The Company issued 4,592,527 Convertible C-Shares 
(Class C1 and C2) to AMHA Swedish Exchange Co AB 
(“Swedish Exchange Co”), a company created under the 
laws of Sweden to hold the Convertible B-Shares and the 
Convertible C-Shares. The Convertible C-Shares have been 

Shares Outstanding
Number of Shares by Class

A B C1 C2 Total
June 16,2015 — Incorporation 50,000 — — — 50,000
May 20, 2016 — Roll Up

Cancellation incorporation shares (50,000) — — — (50,000)
Roll up 29,478,036 13,609,394 1,844,527 2,748,000 47,679,957

Initial Public Offering 24,819,852 — — — 24,819,852
Final closing of Roll up 171,500 — — — 171,500
Conversion of convertible B shares 1,468,599 (1,468,599) — — —
Issuance of shares 484,212 — — — 484,212
Retraction of convertible C1 shares — — (1,844,527) — (1,844,527)
Exercise of Maha (Canada) options 100,000 — — (100,000) —
December 31, 2016 56,522,199 12,140,795 — 2,648,000 71,310,994

issued to facilitate delivery of shares under Maha Energy 
Inc.’s existing stock-based incentive plan and delivery of 
shares for the exercise of outstanding warrants issued by 
Maha Energy Inc. during 2014. The intention is that the 
option and warrant holders shall become shareholders 
in Maha Energy AB instead of Maha Energy Inc. and in 
order to facilitate such exchange the Company issued the 
Convertible C-Shares. Upon the acquisition of Maha Energy 
Inc. common shares by the option and warrant holders, 
such shares are exchangeable for Convertible C-Shares in 
the Company. The Convertible C-Shares will thereafter be 
converted to a Maha Energy AB A-Shares. In the event all 
Convertible C-Shares are not exchanged for Maha Energy 
Inc. common shares and the relevant options and warrants 
have expired, such remaining Convertible C-Shares will be 
redeemed in accordance with the redemption clause in the 
Company’s articles of association.

Maha Energy Inc. has a stock option plan which allows 
the Company to grant stock options, at exercise prices 
equal to or close to market price, in amounts up to 10% of 
the number of common shares issued. All of the options 
have a four to five year term. The options were granted 
in 2014, 2015 and on January 1, 2016 and the remaining 
unvested options vest one-third on each anniversary date 
for the three years following the date of granting.
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Expiration date
Number of

options Vested Exercise price Remaining life
# # USD Years

March 31, 2018 1,548,000 1,548,000 0.45 1.25
December 31, 2018 400,000 400,000 0.75 2.00
December 31, 2018 350,000 350,000 1.25 2.00
July 15, 2020 300,000 100,000 1.25 3.54
December 31, 2020 50,000 16,667 1.25 4.00
Total outstanding 2,648,000 2,414,667 0.70 1.75

On January 1, 2016, the Company issued to a key employee 
50,000 stock options at an exercise price of USD 1.25. By 
way of an option amending agreement signed as part of 
the Roll up, each option holder agreed to receive a class 
A share instead of a common share of Maha Energy Inc. 
upon exercise of the stock option. The value of the warrants 
and stock options issued during each of the periods ended 
December 31 were calculated using the Black-Scholes 
model with the following assumptions: 

2016 2015
Expected term 5 years 5 years
Volatility 60% 60%
Expected dividend yield and 
forfeiture rate Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.90% 0.90%

The following stock options are outstanding at December 
31, 2016:

Number of 
options

Exercise 
price

# USD
Balance, December 31, 2014 2,400,000 0.62
Granted 300,000 1.25
Exercised (2,000) 0.45
Balance, December 31, 2015 2,698,000 0.69
Granted 50,000 1.25
Exercised (100,000) 0.45
Balance, December 31, 2016 2,648,000 0.70

(b) Maha Energy Inc. share purchase warrants outstanding
Each of the Company’s common share purchase warrants is convertible into one class A share of Maha Energy AB, upon 
payment of the exercise price. By way of a warrant amending agreement signed as part of the Roll up, each warrant holder 
agreed to receive a Class A share instead of a common share of Maha Energy Inc. upon exercise of the relevant Maha 
Energy Inc. warrants.

Maha Energy Inc. Share Purchase Warrant Exercise price
# USD

Balance at December 31, 2014 2,635,405 1.36
Exercised (79,519) 0.45
Expired (711,359) 0.45
Balance at December 31, 2015 1,844,527 1.75
Expired (1,844,527) 1.75
Balance at December 31, 2016 — —



MAHA ENERGY ANNUAL REPORT 201644

13. Financial instruments and risk
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are comprised 
of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loans 
and deposits, performance bonds, and accounts payable.
The Company classifies the fair value of financial instru-
ments measured at fair value according to the following 
hierarchy based on the amount of observable inputs used 
to value the instrument:

Level 1 — Quoted prices are available in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. 
Active markets are those in which transactions occur in suf-
ficient frequency and volume to provide pricing informa-
tion on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 — Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices 
in active markets included in Level 1. Prices in Level 2 are 
either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting 
date. Valuations are based on inputs, including quoted for-
ward prices for commodities, time value and volatility fac-
tors, which can be substantially observed or corroborated 
in the marketplace.

Level 3 — Valuations in this level are those with inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities and discus-
sion of risks associated with financial assets and liabilities 
are presented as follows:

(a) Fair value risk
The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, loans and 
deposits and accounts payable approximate their carrying 
amount due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. 
The fair value of the performance bonds approximates the 
carrying amount.

(b) Currency risk
As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s capital expendi-
tures are predominantly paid in US Dollars, and any 
future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in 
Swedish Krona. Future project exploration and develop-
ment expenditures are expected to be paid primarily in 
US Dollars. Some of the Company’s expenditures (general 
and administrative, revenues and operating expenses) 
are denominated in Canadian dollars. As such, significant 
change in the relative currency exchange rates between the 
Canadian dollar, Swedish Krona and the U.S. dollar could 
have an effect on the Company’s results of operations, finan-
cial position and cash flows. The Company has not hedged 
its exposure to currency fluctuations. As such, the Company 
is subject to risk due to fluctuations in the exchange rates 
for Canadian dollar and Swedish Krona expenses incurred.

Of the Company’s cash, USD 3,060,838 is held at a 
large Canadian financial institution, USD 77,531 is held at 
a local bank in Newcastle Wyoming and USD 3,619,300 is 
held at a bank in Stockholm Sweden. Total cash consists of 
USD 6,757,669 of which USD 72,284 is held in CAD funds, 
USD 3,057,904 is held in USD and USD 3,627,481 is held in 
Swedish Krona (SEK).

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or 
third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contrac-
tual obligations.

The Company has made loans and deposits as part of 
the acquisition of oil and gas assets in Brazil (Notes 5 and 
17). These loans and deposits are secured by shares of the 
Brazilian subsidiaries of the vendors. In the event the acqui-
sitions are not approved the loans and deposits will be at risk 
to the extent the shares offered as security are unenforce-
able. In January 2017, these acquisitions were finalized and 
the loans and deposits will be applied to the purchase price.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to 
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
has working capital of USD 6,736,461.

The Company manages liquidity risk through its 
management of capital as outlined in Note 14. Accounts 
payable relating to oil and gas interests and other accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities are due within the current 
operating period.

14. Management of Capital
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safe-
guard the Company’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. The Company does not have any externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subject. As at December 
31, 2016, the Company considers capital to consist of all 
components of shareholders’ equity. The Company man-
ages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk char-
acteristic of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Company may issue common stock, or 
dispose of assets.

In order to facilitate the management of its capital 
requirements, the Company prepares annual expenditure 
budgets that are updated as necessary depending on 
various factors, including successful capital deployment 
and general industry conditions. The annual and updated 
budgets are approved by the Board of Directors.
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15. Geographical information
The Company operates in Canada, Sweden and the United States of America. Segmented information by geographic area 
is as follows:

Canada US Sweden Total
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2016
Impairment of PPE and E&E (562,022) — — (562,022)
Revenue 227,381 — — 227,381
Non-current assets 832,540 18,744,863 5,651,203 25,228,606
Total assets 2,788,149 19,024,538 10,520,977 32,333,664
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2015
Impairment of PPE and E&E 2,163,207 — — 2,163,207
Revenue 634,934 — — 634,934
Non-current assets 273,588 17,947,725 — 18,221,313
Total assets 4,888,056 18,083,274 — 22,971,330

16. Changes in non-cash working capital for the period
Year ended December 31

2016 2015
Change in:
Accounts receivable (11,159) 51,817
Prepaid expenses and deposits (178,993) (16,447)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18,136 (1,759,976)

(172,016) (1,724,606)
Changes in non-cash working capital:
Operating activities (169,663) (68,627)
Investing activities 42,647 (1,645,321)
Financing activities (45,000) —
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss — (10,658)

(172,016) (1,724,606)

17. Subsequent Events
Brazil Acquisitions
PVE Acquisition
On January 13, 2017, Maha completed the purchase of 
a non-operated 37.5% working interest in the Tartaruga 
development block, located in the Sergipe Alagoas Basin 
of Brazil (the “PVE Acquisition”). Maha had entered into 
loan agreements with the vendor whereby funds were 
provided to resolve outstanding joint interest billings for 
USD 901,500. On closing these loans were forgiven and 
became part of the purchase price of the working interest. 
In addition to the loans, the Company paid USD 1,783,512 
into escrow in December 2016. These funds were released 
from escrow on closing. The total purchase price is 
USD 2,685,012.

TDC Acquisition
On January 25, 2017, the Company completed the pur-
chase of an additional 30.0% working interest in the 
Tartaruga field by way of acquisition the vendor’s wholly-

owned Brazilian subsidiary UPP (the “TDC Acquisition”). 
UPP is the operator of the Tartaruga field. After adjustments, 
the acquisition price was USD 3,254,825 million (sub-
ject to post closing adjustments). USD 500,000 was paid 
by way of a refundable deposit made on March 22, 2016 
and USD 2,404,825 was paid into escrow in December 
2016. There is a holdback of USD 350,000 pending the 
Consolidation (see below). The funds were released from 
escrow on closing. In order to secure beneficial ownership 
of a 7.5% working interest in the Tartaruga field that was to 
have been consolidated into UPP prior to closing from its 
Brazil affiliate (the “Consolidation”), the parties to the TDC 
Acquisition have agreed Maha will own the outstanding 
share capital of the Brazil affiliate until the Consolidation is 
complete. The Consolidation remains subject to approval 
by the Brazilian Government and the Agencia Nacional do 
Petroleo, Gas Natural e Biocombustiveis of Brazil (“ANP”) 
however since the Consolidation is a transfer as between 
concessionaires it is considered routine.
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Sale of Canadian Assets
Maha has entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement 
with Petrocapita Oil and Gas L.P. (“Petrocapita”) under 
which Maha will sell Petrocapita its interest in the Manitou 
and Marwayne properties (the “Canadian Assets”) for a 
total of CAD 1,650,000. The consideration is payable in 
two parts: (a) cash payments totaling CAD 750,000 to be 
paid over 9 months commencing March 15, 2017 and (b) 
the balance by a CAD 900,000 convertible Debenture 
granted by Petrocapita Income Trust (the “Trust”), the 
parent of Petrocapita, maturing December 1, 2023 (the 
“Debenture”). Under the Debenture arrangement, the Trust 
pays annual interest on the outstanding balance at 6% and 
Maha may convert the outstanding balance at any time 
after December 31, 2017 to publically traded Trust Units 
based on the 20 day volume weighted average trading 
price of the Unit at the time of conversion. The outstand-
ing balance will be secured by a registered charge on the 
Canadian Assets.

In accordance with the Company’s accounting poli-
cies, this sale does not meet the criteria under IFRS 5 to 
be recorded as a discontinued operation as the definitive 
sale agreement was not completed until after December 
31, 2016.

Purchase of Gran Tierra Brazilian Assets and related 
financing
Maha entered into an agreement to acquire the Brazil busi-
ness unit of Gran Tierra Energy Inc. (“Gran Tierra”) (NYSE 
MKT:GTE) (TSX:GTE) through the purchase of all of the 
shares and outstanding intercompany debt of Gran Tierra 
Finance (Luxembourg) S.Á.R.L., including assumed liabil-
ities involved with the going-concern operations, for a cash 

consideration of USD 35 million, subject to closing adjust-
ments (the “Acquisition”). Upon closing, Maha will own and 
operate, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, the 100% 
working interests in six concession agreements located in 
the Reconcavo Basin of Brazil. Closing of the Acquisition is 
subject to receiving the approval of the ANP, completion of 
a financing by Maha, and other closing conditions standard 
for similar transactions.

In January 2017 Maha provided Gran Tierra a cash 
deposit (“Initial Deposit”) of USD 3.5 million which is 
non-refundable in certain circumstances, including if the 
Company has not deposited into escrow the remaining 
cash consideration of USD 31.5 million on or before June 
1, 2017 or has not provided a further cash deposit (“Second 
Deposit”) of USD 1.5 million by such date. If the Second 
Deposit is paid, the Company is required to place into 
escrow the remaining cash consideration of USD 30 mil-
lion by August 1, 2017. The USD 35 million purchase price 
will be released upon all closing conditions being satisfied, 
including receiving the approval of the Acquisition from 
ANP.

Financing of the Transaction
To complete the Acquisition, Maha will be required to pay 
cash consideration of USD 35 million and arrange financial 
guarantees (letters of credit or surety bonds) for certain 
work commitments totalling approximately USD 12 million.

In contemplation of completing the acquisition, in March 
2017 the Company completed a Directed Share Issue of 
12,919,326 Maha A-shares at a share price of SEK 7.10 
for gross proceeds of SEK 91,727,214.60 (approximately 
USD 10.5 million).

18 Shares in Subsidiaries — Parent Company

Subsidiary Registration number Registered office
Book amount  
31 Dec 2016

Maha Energy Inc. 2017256518 Calgary, Alberta, Canada 183,539,886
Maha Energy I (Brazil) AB 559058-0907 Stockholm, Sweden 50,000
Maha Energy II (Brazil) AB 559058-0899 Stockholm, Sweden 50,000

183,639,886

19 Loan to Subsidiaries — Parent Company

Subsidiary
Book amount 
31 Dec 2016

Maha Energy Inc. 8,443,480
Maha Energy I (Brazil) AB 51,516,290
Maha Energy II (Brazil) AB 520,367

60,480,137

20 Average number of Employees

Canada
United 
States Company

Employees (2016) 5 5 10
Employees (2015) 5 4 9
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Assurance
The board of directors and the managing director declare 
that the consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and 
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and 
results of operations. The financial statements of the Parent 
Company have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in Sweden and give a true 

and fair view of the Parent Company’s financial position and 
results of operations. The statutory Administration Report of 
the Group and the Parent Company provides a fair review of 
the development of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s 
operations, financial position and results of operations and 
describes material risks and uncertainties facing the Parent 
Company and the companies included in the Group. 

Stockholm,
May 2, 2017

Wayne Thomson,
Chairman	of	the	Board

Anders Ehrenblad, 
Director

Ronald Panchuk,
Director

Karl Jonas Lindvall, 
Managing Director

Our audit report was submitted on May 2, 2017

Deloitte AB

Fredrik Jonsson
Authorized	public	accountant
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Auditor’s Report
To the general meeting of the shareholders of 
Maha Energy AB 
corporate identity number 559018-9543

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts of Maha Energy AB for the financial year 
2016-01-01 — 2016-12-31 for the parent company and 
2016-01-01 — 2016-12-31 for the consolidated accounts. 
The annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the 
company are included on pages 25—47 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
parent company and the group as of 31 December 2016 
and its financial performance and cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accord-
ance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the group 
as of 31 December 2016 and their financial performance 
and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act.  The 
statutory administration report is consistent with the other 
parts of the annual accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of 
shareholders adopts the income statement and balance 
sheet for the parent company and the group.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted aud-
iting standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities section. We are independent of the parent 
company and the group in accordance with professional 
ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise ful-
filled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts 
and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with 
the Annual Accounts Act. The Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director are also responsible for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the prep-
aration of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, The Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
are responsible for the assessment of the company’s and 

the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They dis-
close, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting. The going 
concern basis of accounting is however not applied if the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director intends to 
liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no real-
istic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden will always detect a material misstate-
ment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepti-
cism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresenta-
tions, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal con-
trol relevant to our audit in order to design audit proced-
ures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effect-
iveness of the company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts. We also draw a 
conclusion, based on the audit evidence obtained, as 
to whether any material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion about the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
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report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-
tent of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
including the disclosures, and whether the annual 
accounts represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated accounts. We are responsible for the dir-
ection, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We 
must also inform of significant audit findings during our 
audit, including any significant deficiencies in internal con-
trol that we identified.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts, we have also audited the administration of 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Maha 
Energy AB for the financial year 2016-01-01 — 2016-12-31 and 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of sharehold-
ers that the profit to be appropriated in accordance with 
the proposal in the statutory administration report and that 
the members of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director be discharged from liability for the financial year. 

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibil-
ities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of 
the parent company and the group in accordance with pro-
fessional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have other-
wise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the pro-
posal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether 
the dividend is justifiable considering the requirements 
which the company’s and the group’s type of operations, 
size and risks place on the size of the parent company’s and 
the group’s equity, consolidation requirements, liquidity 
and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s 
organization and the administration of the company’s affairs. 
This includes among other things continuous assessment 
of the company’s financial situation and ensuring that the 

company’s organization is designed so that the account-
ing, management of assets and the company’s financial 
affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring manner. The 
Managing Director shall manage the ongoing administra-
tion according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and 
instructions and among other matters take measures that 
are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accord-
ance with law and handle the management of assets in a 
reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, 
and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to 
obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree 
of assurance whether any member of the Board of Directors 
or the Managing Director in any material respect:
• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omis-

sion which can give rise to liability to the company, or
• in any other way has acted in contravention of the 

Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles 
of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appro-
priations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our 
opinion about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of 
assurance whether the proposal is in accordance with the 
Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will 
always detect actions or omissions that can give rise to lia-
bility to the company, or that the proposed appropriations 
of the company’s profit or loss are not in accordance with 
the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. The examination of the administration and the 
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss 
is based primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional 
audit procedures performed are based on our profes-
sional judgment with starting point in risk and materiality. 
This means that we focus the examination on such actions, 
areas and relationships that are material for the operations 
and where deviations and violations would have particular 
importance for the company’s situation. We examine and 
test decisions undertaken, support for decisions, actions 
taken and other circumstances that are relevant to our 
opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis for 
our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appropri-
ations of the company’s profit or loss we examined whether 
the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Gothenburg May 2, 2017
Deloitte AB

Signature on Swedish original

Fredrik Jonsson
Authorized	Public	Accountant
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